
Page 1 of 2 
 

TOWN OF SURFSIDE BEACH      
115 US Highway 17 North, Surfside Beach, SC 29575 
Web:  www.surfsidebeach.org 
 (843) 913-6111     (843) 238-5432 
 

TOWN COUNCIL Regular MEETING 
Council chambers 

 Tuesday, MAY 28, 2013  6:30 p.m. 
 

A G E N D A 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER – Mayor Douglas F. Samples 
 
2.   INVOCATION AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE – Pastor Allen Rogers, Journey 
 Church 
 

3.   AGENDA APPROVAL 
 
4.   MINUTES APPROVAL 
 A. Budget Workshop May 14, 2013 
 B. Regular Meeting May 14, 2013 

 
5.  PUBLIC COMMENTS – Agenda Items Only. (3-minutes per speaker) 
 
6.   COMMUNICATIONS 
 A. Employee Recognition, Joan Saleem 10-year Anniversary    
 B. Proclamation #13-85 Lupus Awareness Month – May 2013 
 C.   Department Reports 
  i.   Finance   
  ii.   Recreation 
  iii.  Public Works 
 D.   Administrator’s Report  
  i. Update on Current Events 
  ii. Consensus Item – Keep Surfside Beach Beautiful Branding   
   Recommendations 
     
7.   BUSINESS 
 A.  Second Reading Ordinance #13-0747, FY2012-2013 Budget Amendments, 
 Director King   
 B.  Second Reading Ordinance #13-0748, Drug Paraphernalia, Administrator 
 Fellner and Chief Keziah 
 C.  Resolution #13-134 Parking for Vendors, Service Providers and Renters, 
 Administrator Fellner 
 D.  Horry County Solid Waste Authority, proposed contract (recycling incentives 
 and disposal agreement), Administrator Fellner 
 E.  Pier Parking Lot Expansion Paving Contract (Boggs), Administrator Fellner 



Town of Surfside Beach Town Council Meeting 
Town Council Chambers  Tuesday, May 28, 2012 
Agenda, Continued 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Page 2 of 2 
 

 
7.   BUSINESS, continued 
 F.  Nathan Black Memorial 5K Run/Walk, Mrs. Diane Smith and Ms. Loriann 
 Witzigman – requesting permission to hold 5K race in October  
 G.  Speed Limit on Ocean Boulevard, Mayor Samples  
 H.  Ad Hoc Committee – Recreation/Special Events recommendation to disband 
 (may be deferred until after executive session)  
 
8.   DISCUSSION – Any matters of concern or information to be discussed by Town 
 Council. 
 
 Process by which Town Council and all state mandated committee minutes are 
 placed on the town web site.  Councilmembers Smith, Stevens, and Dodge. 
 
9.   PUBLIC COMMENTS – General Comments. (5-minutes per speaker) 
 
10.   COUNCIL COMMENTS 
 
11.   EXECUTIVE SESSION 
  
 Pursuant to FOIA §30-4-70(a)(1) to discuss the appointment of a person or 
 persons to a public body and pursuant to Town Code of Ordinances §2-61(f) to 
 consider vacancies declared by the recreation/special events committee and its 
 recommendation to disband the committee. 
 
12.   ADJOURNMENT 



 

Page 1 of 16 
 

  SURFSIDE BEACH TOWN COUNCIL  1 
  BUDGET WORKSHOP MINUTES  2 
  MAY 14, 2013 3:00 P.M. 3 
         TOWN COUNCIL CHAMBERS 4 
 5 
 1.  CALL TO ORDER.
 7 

   6 

 Mayor Samples said the order would be called as soon as Ms. Fellner got the projector set up at 8 
three o’clock and then called the budget workshop to order at 3:03 p.m.  Mayor Samples, Mayor Pro 9 
Tempore Mabry, and Councilmembers Dodge, Kohlmann, Johnson, Smith and Stevens were in 10 
attendance.  A quorum was present. Others present:  Administrator Fellner; Finance Director King; 11 
Recreation Supervisor Ellis; Police Chief Keziah; Fire Chief Cimini; Public Works Director Adair; Senior 12 
Accountant Gardiner, and Town Clerk Herrmann.    13 
 14 
 2.  BUSINESS.
 16 

   15 

 Ms. Fellner said there have been some technical issues.  Some slides were not available, and 17 
some of the numbers need to be re-verified.  She proceeded with a slide show detailing proposed 18 
changes to the FY2012-2013 municipal budget that included –  19 
 20 

 Increase sanitation transfer to general fund for rent, $45,375 21 
 Decrease sanitation fund by $45,375 for transfer to general fund for rent 22 
 Increase hospitality transfer to general fund for Highway 17 paving, $339,000.  The road is an 23 

allowable expense under state statutes. 24 
 Decrease hospitality fund by $339,000 for transfer to general fund for Highway 17 paving 25 
 Increase hospitality transfer to general fund for pier ADA ramp, $131,300, which is an allowable 26 

expense from hospitality funds 27 
 Decrease hospitality fund by $131,300 for transfer to general fund for pier ADA ramp 28 

 29 
 Changes to fund balances for FY2012-2013 are an increase to General Fund $616,675; 30 
Sanitation ($45,375), and Hospitality ($571,300.) 31 
 32 
 Mayor Samples asked if these changed had occurred.  Ms. Fellner said these are proposed 33 
changes are an option for Town Council to consider.  Mayor Samples said the numbers are very similar to 34 
the original budget; there were major transfers at the outset.  He asked if these changes were in addition 35 
to.  Ms. King said these were additional changes.  Mayor Samples asked if these changes would affect 36 
the budget amendment on which first reading was held.  Ms. King said it would not change the budget 37 
amendment, because the expenses would still be in the general fund, but the cash is being transferred 38 
from other fund and placing it in general funds.  Mayor Samples said that was right; revenue adjustments 39 
are not shown in the budget amendment; only expenditure adjustments are stated.  Ms. King said that 40 
was correct.      41 
 42 
 Ms. Kohlmann asked if for clarification on the road transfer.  Ms. Fellner said it was to resurface 43 
Highway 17 Business from Melody Lane to 17th Avenue North.   44 
 45 
 Mr. Smith asked if that was half of the actual cost, which he believed was $780,000.  Ms. Fellner 46 
said right.  Ms. King said the budget had $441,000 to be moved from hospitality funds to general funds.  47 
Road paving is an allowable expense, so hospitality will fund the entire amount so the additional amount 48 
of $339,000 is proposed to be paid by hospitality funds.  Mr. Smith said the whole road will be paid by 49 
hospitality funds.  Ms. King clarified that the budget will reflect that hospitality funds contributed the 50 
amount to the general fund; it is general fund’s road, but hospitality pays for it.  Mr. Smith said okay, and 51 
asked what the previous and proposed sanitation rent amounts were.  It appeared there was $45,000 52 
additional.  Ms. King said $54,000 was originally in the budget.  Mr. Smith said $54,000 originally and now 53 
$45,000 is added; okay.  He asked about the $131,000 for the ramp from the pier fund.  Ms. King said 54 
cash is being transferred to the pier to pay for the ramp.  Mr. Smith asked if all these transfers were in this 55 



Town Council Budget Workshop 
May 14, 2013 
 

Page 2 of 16 
 

year’s current budget, which is FY2013.  Ms. King said if council so desires those changes will be done in 56 
this year’s budget. 57 
 58 
 Mayor Samples said money would be transferred from hospitality funds to the pier.  He asked if 59 
the pier would be able to repay the general fund the $163,000.  Ms. King said yes, and that amount is 60 
already in the budget.  Mayor Samples said right, it is in the budget, but council deferred pier payment to 61 
general fund for two years; payment is included this year and the pier will continue making regular 62 
payments to the general fund according to repayment schedule. 63 
   64 
 Ms. Fellner presented changes to fund balances for FY2013-2014 – 65 
 66 

 Eliminate bonus to employees (keep Christmas bonus), increase general fund by $89,000; 67 
increase sanitation fund by $13,000; increase accommodation tax fund by $2,000 68 

 Eliminate façade grant, increase general fund by $50,000 69 
 Move magazine to hospitality fund, increases general fund by $25,000 70 
 Increase general fund by transfer from sanitation fund for rent, $42,860 71 
 Decrease sanitation fund by $42,860 for rent paid to general fund 72 

 73 
 Changes to fund balances for FY2013-2014 equal general fund $206,860; sanitation fund 74 
($29,860); accommodations tax fund $2,000. 75 

 76 
 Mr. Smith asked if any other 50th Anniversary expenses could be moved into the hospitality fund.  77 
Ms. Fellner did not know what the remaining balance was in hospitality funds, but there was not a 78 
sufficient balance to move all the expenditures there.   79 
 80 
 Mr. Johnson asked what the current hospitality balance was.  Ms. King said about $600,000 81 
before expenditures were made.   82 
 83 
 Mayor Samples said about the end of August 2012 it was reported to Town Council that the 84 
hospitality fund balance was $957,000.  There was roughly $600,000 left before any transfers were made.  85 
He asked what the balance would be after the transfers.  Ms. Fellner and Ms. King both said pretty close 86 
to zero.  Mayor Samples said Town Council wanted to know the facts.         87 
 88 
 Ms. Fellner said the reasoning behind the proposed alternatives was basically about cash flow.  Is 89 
the town running too tight; what is the cash flow?  The town is running very tight.  The proposed transfers 90 
will use almost the entire balance from hospitality; the sanitation contribution to the general fund has 91 
almost doubled, and there is a projected negative cash flow beginning in December 2013.  However, with 92 
some of the proposed changes, the negative cash flow may not occur.  She was not comfortable giving 93 
that number, because that was what was being calculated when the computer went down.  If an 94 
emergency event occurs, like a storm, there is no undesignated reserve, which is a dangerous situation. 95 
 96 
 Mr. Smith asked if the town could last until December without a negative cash flow.  Ms. Fellner 97 
believed so, but a few other less significant changes were made.  Ms. King believes October 31st.  Mr. 98 
Smith asked if the information would be recalculated when the computer is restored.  Ms. Fellner said 99 
yes, and she believes the numbers are correct, but there has not been an opportunity to verify everything 100 
is calculating correctly.  Mr. Smith said okay. 101 
 102 
 Ms. King distributed three additional sheets, copies of which are in file.  One sheet itemized cash 103 
flow for the various funds.  As of today, there is $1.946 million in the bank.  $825,125 is in the general 104 
fund.  Projections for the general fund include expected revenue and expenses for each month, restricted 105 
funds, and estimated ending balance.  The amounts are before any changes are made based on today’s 106 
presentation.  The suggestions in the presentation will help general fund, but reduce other funds.  The 107 
estimation is that at the end of May 2013, general fund balance will be ($154,375.)   108 
 109 
 Mayor Samples said this was good information for council to have, and asked if the types of funds 110 
would be discussed so Town Council would understand which funds had legal requirements, i.e., the 111 



Town Council Budget Workshop 
May 14, 2013 
 

Page 3 of 16 
 

accommodations tax money is very restricted.  Ms. King said basically the only fund that can be used is 112 
the general fund, but even that fund has some restrictions.  Mayor Samples asked what the legal 113 
restriction is for the sanitation fund.  Ms. King said the sanitation fund is a proprietary fund; it should be 114 
used just as any business would and earnings should be reinvested in the business, and use it for paying 115 
the department’s expenses, such as rent.  It should not be used to fund the general fund.  Funds could be 116 
taken out as long as they were reimbursed by the end of the year.  Mayor Samples said state law is very 117 
precise as it relates to accommodations tax, for example, it states revenues collected under the 118 
accommodations tax shall be used exclusively (speaker’s emphasis) for these uses.  He asked where 119 
that same legislation is found as it relates to proprietary funds like the sanitation fund.  Ms. King said 120 
North Carolina has a law that sanitation funds could not be used, but she was unsure whether South 121 
Carolina had the same law.  Mayor Samples asked her to find out and advise council before the town 122 
might have to borrow money.  Ms. King said she would. 123 
 124 
 Ms. King said the other funds shown were restricted that should not be used for general fund 125 
revenue, which is the fund that funds town expenditures.  During June, business license fees would be 126 
received so the forecast is that there will be a positive balance at the end of June, July, and August.  In 127 
September, October and November the projection is a negative balance.  In December, the first annual 128 
property tax revenue will be received so the projection is that December will have a positive balance.  The 129 
projections are based on last year’s information, because there is no other comparison data.  Based on 130 
the projections, the balance is a positive $3.633 million at the end of December 2013, but most of that 131 
money is restricted. 132 
 133 
 Mr. Smith said the end of May shows a negative ending balance and asked if that meant the town 134 
was out of cash in that fund.  Ms. King said yes, sir.  Mr. Smith asked how the bills would be paid.   135 
 136 
 Mayor Samples said they would not be paid, because projected expenses and encumbrances of 137 
$715,500 is shown.  One way is not to pay $154,370 in bills and hold those until June when revenue is 138 
received. 139 
 140 
 Mr. Smith asked Ms. Fellner if that was the plan.  Ms. Fellner said that was not a plan she liked, 141 
but that may be the reality of things.  Mr. Smith said okay. 142 
 143 
 Mayor Samples asked if the transfers that were proposed at this meeting were made if that would 144 
allow the payments to be made.  Ms. King said yes.  Mayor Samples said okay.   145 
 146 
 Mr. Smith said even though these numbers were not verified, the proposed changes could 147 
probably take the town through or to November, he saw.   148 
 149 
 Ms. King referred to the page captioned “Comparison of FY2012-2013 to Proposed Budget 150 
FY2013-2014,” and said these numbers need to be verified, since they were being computed when the 151 
computer failed.  With changes, the general fund revenue would exceed expenses for next year.  Capital 152 
projects fund would have a negative balance, but that is because that revenue is held in the fund balance.  153 
The projects will be completed using those funds, but no new revenue will be received next year.  154 
Hospitality revenue should be about $644,000 with $492,000 expenditures, netting $151,000.  Applying 155 
the changes hospitality has a ($304,000) balance this year.  Accommodations tax revenue is about 156 
$450,000 and expenditures of about $383,000 and an ending balance of about $67,000.  She believed 157 
there is a recommendation that needs to go back to committee.  The sanitation fund would lose about 158 
$42,000, because it is paying more in rent to the town.  The pier would lose about $36,000 after making 159 
the payment to the town.  The net loss for the year is projected at ($165,000.) 160 
 161 
 Mr. Smith asked how much the pier would pay the general fund.  Ms. King said $163,000.   162 
 163 
 Ms. King referred to the page captioned “General Fund - Changes in Fund Balance-Fund Balance 164 
Summary” and said there is one obvious error.  FY2012 Actual amounts are correct as they were taken 165 
from the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR).  The FY2014 Proposed number for Transfers 166 
(out)/in in the amount of $134,098 should be $174,728, which is the Increase/(Decrease) for the general 167 



Town Council Budget Workshop 
May 14, 2013 
 

Page 4 of 16 
 

fund on the comparison page just reviewed.  She reiterated that these calculations were being done when 168 
the computer failed.  She would verify the information and explained that this year, FY12-13, began with 169 
$1.086 million in unreserved fund balance and the projection is that at the end of FY13-14 the balance 170 
would be about $822,000.   171 

 172 
 Mayor Samples asked Ms. King to give more specific explanations.  Ms. King said in FY2012 173 
Actual the general fund balance is $3,466,132.  The FY13 adopted budget projected that ending balance 174 
would be $2,174,429.  If the changes are made the projected FY13 fund balance is $3,241,458, which is 175 
the total of non-spendable, committed, assigned, and restricted funds.   176 
 177 
 Mayor Samples asked if she was sure all the changes were legal.  Ms. King said yes.  It is not 178 
“safe,” but it is legal.  She would not do anything that was not legal.  Mayor Samples asked why she was 179 
not comfortable.  Ms. King said because there is a bad number, i.e., $174,728 versus $134,098, and she 180 
did not know why.  She was not sure exactly when the computer failed; she was at a loss, because she 181 
had to start over and now there miscalculations.  Moving funds between accounts needs to be verified to 182 
insure they are balanced.  The fund balance beginning next year is $3,241,458; transfers in/out is either 183 
$134,098 or $174,728; it would have to be verified.  184 
 185 
 Mayor Samples reiterated that the $174,728 increase/(decrease) from the Comparison of 186 
FY2012-2013 to Proposed Budget FY 2013-2014 and the $134,098 shown on transfers (out)/in on the 187 
General Fund Changes in Fund Balance pages had to be verified.   188 
 189 
 Ms. King said the totals on the Changes in Fund Balance pare are more conservative.  At the 190 
bottom of the page the “Non-Spendable” balances, which consist of things like diesel fuel in the ground, 191 
reserves for prepaids, show consistent balances, because there is no way to project what they might be.  192 
The “Advances” column is the money the general fund loaned to the pier fund, and the proposed ending 193 
balance at June 30, 2014 reflects a payment of $163,000.  State law requires that the victims advocate 194 
program funds be separated for the victims advocate.   195 
 196 
 Ms. Kohlmann asked why there is such a big difference in the victims advocate amounts.  Ms. 197 
King said the proposed FY14 amount of $20,266 is the same as the FY13 ending balance.  She did not 198 
know how the budgeted amount of $2,326 was determined.  She said those funds usually are around 199 
$20,000.  Ms. Kohlmann asked what those funds represented.  Ms. King said money collected from fines; 200 
a percentage is returned to the town by the state to be used to perform victims advocate programs, i.e. 201 
pay victims advocate, and other victims advocate functions.  The amount was left the same, because 202 
research had not been done to determine what might be used.  Ms. Kohlmann asked who oversaw those 203 
monies.  Ms. Fellner said the police chief.   204 
 205 
 Mayor Samples asked who collected the money.  Ms. King said the court collects it and it is 206 
transferred to the victims advocate fund.   207 
 208 
 Ms. Kohlmann asked how the victims advocate used those funds, who oversaw the expenditures.  209 
Chief Keziah said most of the funds were used for salary, travel and training that is required to keep 210 
certification, cell phone, laptop and desk top computers, materials and supplies to perform the job, office 211 
furniture for that office.  Funds are used to fund the office and its operations.  Some funds are used to 212 
help victims with lodging, food, or whatever their needs might be.   213 
 214 
 Ms. King said the amount would be adjusted at the end of the year; the information was just not 215 
available now.   216 
  217 
 Ms. King said the street fund proposed ending balance $609,970; those funds are from Horry 218 
County.   219 
 220 
 Mayor Samples asked if that was all Horry County road money.  Ms. King said that was money 221 
paid for car taxes.   222 
 223 



Town Council Budget Workshop 
May 14, 2013 
 

Page 5 of 16 
 

 Mr. Smith asked if that was the $30 per car.  Ms. King said yes.   224 
 225 
 Ms. King said the car tax money and the County Transportation Committee money less the cost 226 
of any road repairs or paving is how the balance is calculated.  The annual net is about $100,000, which 227 
is why the next year’s projection is $609,970.  As far as she knows, there are no road projects planned for 228 
FY2013-2014.  Last year’s amount was less, because one-half of the cost of repaving Highway 17 229 
Business was taken from Street Improvements.  However, that expenditure is being taken from hospitality 230 
funds now, which results in a larger balance in this restricted fund.      231 
 232 
 Mayor Samples asked if this was state, county, or town statute or policy.  Ms. King believed the 233 
County collected the funds and directed use for streets.  Mayor Samples said good. 234 
 235 
 Mr. Smith said that balance goes up about $100,000 each year, if it is not spent.  Ms. King said 236 
yes.   237 
 238 
 Ms. King said the capital replacement fund is used as determined by Town Council.  Capital 239 
replacement is to replace fleet vehicles and equipment that might need to be replaced.  At the end of last 240 
year, the fund had $484,506; at the end of this year the balance is estimated at $509,970.  She believed 241 
there were only a couple of things planned for capital replacement next year, which would result in a 242 
balance of $645,773.  Town Council designated by policy that 3 mils would be placed in capital 243 
replacement annually.   244 
 245 
 Mayor Samples said Town Council does have flexibility with respect to the capital replacement 246 
funding.  Ms. King said yes. 247 
 248 
 Ms. King said assigned funds are for land and meters were included in hospitality several years 249 
ago for parking.  The separation brings the land fund back; at the end of the year once all the funds have 250 
been collected and expenditures are deducted, an actual number will be calculated.  For this exercise, 251 
she used budgeted numbers to project the amounts. 252 
 253 
 Ms. Kohlmann asked how flexible the commitment to capital replacement is.  Ms. King said it was 254 
up to Town Council; the amount designated is determined by council.  Ms. Kohlmann asked for specifics 255 
on how the funds were used.  Ms. King said to replace cars; at one time 10 mils were reserved; it was 256 
dropped to 3 mils, which is what is reserved now.  Ms. Kohlmann asked if the proposed vehicle 257 
purchases were from this fund.  Ms. King said a tractor and a mower would be purchased from this fund.  258 
Police cars may be purchased with hospitality funds.  Ms. Kohlmann asked if that was the only other fund 259 
used for capital purchases, except for accommodations tax funds.   260 
 261 
 Mayor Samples said the pier enterprise funds; sanitation pays for its own equipment and 262 
vehicles.  Mayor Samples said 10 mils was years ago.  At that time the only enterprise fund the town had 263 
was water.  When the water system was sold, the sanitation fund was established.  He guessed there 264 
was a reason why the reduction from 10 mils occurred.   265 
 266 
 Ms. Kohlmann wanted to be clear that money was flexible.  Mayor Samples said it was for the 267 
council’s new Mercedes!  (Laughter)  Mayor Samples asked how much the car allowance was in Myrtle 268 
Beach.  Mr. O’Dare said $3,600.   269 
 270 
 Mayor Samples said Town Council decides the amounts for the land and meter fund.  Ms. King 271 
said correct, but if council wants to continue past practices, i.e. plantings along rights-of-way, this fund 272 
would pay for that.  Mayor Samples believed that all councilmembers understood the impact when funds 273 
were used, and that everyone understood there was “no money laying around.”  His point was that Town 274 
Council needed to understand its authority as well as the constraints by which it must operate.    275 
 276 
 Mr. Smith asked if the General Fund – Changes in Fund Balance detail included the changes 277 
discussed earlier in the meeting.  Ms. King said to the best of knowledge, subject to verification of the 278 
data from the computer failure, she believed the data includes the proposed changes.  The numbers 279 



Town Council Budget Workshop 
May 14, 2013 
 

Page 6 of 16 
 

appear to be reasonably close.  Ms. King said the calculations would be verified and reported to Town 280 
Council.   281 
 282 
 Mr. Smith said the accommodations tax fund showed a negative $31,044 balance in June on the 283 
first page discussed that showed all funds, and asked what could be changed to prevent a zero balance.  284 
Ms. Fellner said the Gator purchase could be deferred.  Mr. Smith said okay, thank you. 285 
 286 
 Ms. Fellner said she would be remiss if she did not explain the strategies of raising the fund 287 
balance that included  288 
 289 

• cutting services, which is unpopular and undesirable 290 
• generate new revenue streams through fees, permits, and licensing, but that takes time to 291 

develop and requires much planning and thought, and might take years to see any significant 292 
result 293 

• annex along the business corridor, which again takes time, and a complete plan 294 
• increase fees; currently information is being collected on fees for fire inspections, permit and 295 

business license fees for comparison to other areas in the county 296 
• raise taxes, which is the most logical strategy to relieve cash flow constraints. 297 

 298 
 Ms. Fellner said this was just information for Town Council to consider.  Pursuant to Section 6-1-299 
320 millage can be increased by percentage based on the annual consumer price index plus the annual 300 
population growth.  The increase can be for the current year, plus the past three years if there was no use 301 
during the previous years.  The millage can be increased by a majority vote of Town Council.  Millage can 302 
also be increased above the cap with a super majority vote of council (5 votes) for prior year deficiency, 303 
occurrence of a catastrophic event, or by court order.  Basically, the town’s percentage for FY13-14 is 304 
9.9-percent, because the prior three years are used for calculation.  This represents a possible millage 305 
increase of 3.96 or a new millage of 43.96 mils, generating additional annual revenue of $226,673.  The 306 
additional millage would equal $16 per $100,000 of house value.  If Town Council chooses to wait 307 
another year, the percentage calculation for FY2014-2015 would be 11.1, including prior years, making 308 
the new millage 44.44, with a super majority vote.       309 
 310 
 Mr. Johnson asked if the stormwater millage was being eliminated.  Ms. Fellner said she would 311 
like to let it expire and send the revenue to the general fund for at least this year.  Mr. Johnson asked if 312 
that money was included in general fund in the proposed budget.  Ms. Fellner said that was included 313 
originally and was one of the assumptions made during the presentation.   314 
            315 
 Ms. Kohlmann was nervous about not having stormwater funding, because of the area in which 316 
we live.  She believed funds would have to be identified in the future, because runoff would not change, 317 
and stormwater issues would probably just get bigger.  She believed the town might be struggling to find 318 
stormwater funding in the future.  The beach is the town’s gold mine, and she hated to see it become a 319 
polluted “Acapulco” type place.  She did not know the answers, but believed the town should tread lightly 320 
on stormwater.  Ms. Fellner said the request was only for the next year when the revenue would be sent 321 
to the general fund; no request was made beyond next year.      322 
 323 
 Mayor Samples said there are some stormwater projects in the budget.  Ms. Fellner said there 324 
was about $410,000 plus another $160- to $170 thousand that are fully funded, before sending money to 325 
the general fund.   326 
 327 
 Ms. Kohlmann understood, but just didn’t want to find a shortfall. 328 
 329 
 Mayor Samples said water quality is a serious issue for Horry County’s entire coast.  330 
 331 
 Ms. Fellner said in closing that these are suggestions for Town Council to consider and make 332 
decision upon.  Decisions on this matter cannot be made at the administration or staff level.  She sought 333 
council’s direction. 334 
 335 



Town Council Budget Workshop 
May 14, 2013 
 

Page 7 of 16 
 

 Mayor Samples said that the meeting was called to give staff direction; only Town Council directs, 336 
collectively.   337 
 338 
 Ms. Kohlmann understood moving stormwater to the general fund for one year, but she was 339 
afraid that years would pass and funding would never be established again.  She asked if there was some 340 
safeguard to insure the funding would be directed back to stormwater.  Ms. Fellner said that decision was 341 
up to council.  Ms. Kohlmann believed councilmembers should consider that as a whole. 342 
 343 
 Mr. Stevens had researched the matter and said according to the Federal Clean Water Act, EPA 344 
went to Aynor and directed them to fix a problem and they had to raise taxes on their citizens because 345 
they did not have a stormwater millage.  Mr. Stevens said those are facts. 346 
 347 
 Mr. Smith said next year over $400,000 worth of stormwater projects would be completed.  The 348 
town might not be collecting millage and designating it for a stormwater fund, but the town will spend over 349 
$400,000 on stormwater projects next year.  He assumed that money would come out of the general 350 
fund, because that is where the money it placed, or would it come out of the stormwater fund.  Ms. Fellner 351 
said the funds would be taken from capital projects fund.  Mr. Smith said in the next year, the town would 352 
spend money, but not replenishing the account.  Ms. Fellner said that was the proposal.  Mr. Smith said 353 
next May, if council determines that funds are needed in the stormwater fund, then at that time Town 354 
Council could decide whether to designate millage to go into stormwater.  Ms. Fellner said that was 355 
correct.   356 
 357 
 Mr. Stevens said on March 25, 2008 the 5-percent millage was voted on for stormwater.  Mayor 358 
Samples said re-authorized.  Mr. Stevens said re-authorized, whatever.  He asked how much money was 359 
gathered in the last five years in that stormwater fund, and how much was actually spent for stormwater 360 
projects.   361 
 362 
 Mayor Samples said that information is in the CAFR, and referred to pages 20 and 21, capital 363 
projects fund details.  He believed the information Mr. Stevens requested could be compiled from 364 
previous CAFRs.  Mayor Samples encouraged everyone to check the CAFR, because it contained the 365 
audited financial information. 366 
 367 
 Ms. Fellner said there was about $400,000 a year, so approximately $2 million.     368 
  369 
 Ms. Mabry had the information broken down by years from 2007 to 2011, if anyone wanted the 370 
exact numbers per year. 371 
 372 
 Mayor Samples suggested going back to 2003 when the stormwater was first instituted.  Audits 373 
are completed annually and the information is available.  Originally the town used general fund monies to 374 
fund stormwater projects prior to adopting 5 mils for capital projects.  He was not proposing a tax 375 
increase, but there was nothing to prevent Town Council from acting.  Expenses must be cut or funds 376 
must be raised; money just does not fall out of the sky. 377 
 378 
 Mr. Tom Dodge, “If I’m not to talk, tell me now, and I’ll go back and sit down.”  Mayor Samples 379 
said he just wanted to ask council, that’s all.  Mr. Dodge, “As a taxpayer, I thought I should be allowed to.  380 
I digress.”  Mayor Samples said they were happy to have him there.  Mr. Dodge, “June is the sunset of 381 
the 5 mil fee on stormwater.  This June, next month, if we do not put that 5 mils back in that means our 382 
tax base goes down 35 mils, because that is a sunset of the stormwater tax.  If we vote to continue the 383 
stormwater tax by 5 mils, not a problem.  If you vote to put that 5 mils out of stormwater, where to me it 384 
should go, because we do need stormwater money here, if it goes to capital expenses, general fund, that 385 
to me in my opinion, is a 5 mil tax increase.  You’re also talking about another tax increase, last slide.  386 
The last slide said nothing about spending decrease to get us out of this problem.  Ah, when I don’t have 387 
money at home, I don’t spend, and I think the town should be run the same way as you would run your 388 
home.  If you don’t have the money, you don’t buy that new car, you buy a used car, and if you can get 389 
away with a golf cart, you don’t even buy a used car, and I think there are places in town here that could 390 
be golf cart uses, instead of trucks, but my argument is the sunset of the stormwater tax is June.  That 391 



Town Council Budget Workshop 
May 14, 2013 
 

Page 8 of 16 
 

means if nothing gets done, our taxes drop 5 mils, in my opinion.  Okay, I’ll go on, if something is done 392 
and that stormwater tax, as I think it should be is put back in for stormwater, then it’s fine.  But you’re 393 
talking about taking it and putting it in the general fund, that isn’t fine.  That is a tax increase, and then 394 
you’re also talking about a tax increase on top of that tax increase, and that I think is wrong.  Thank you.” 395 
 396 
 Mayor Samples said he tried to make the same issue, which is the town cannot keep spending 397 
money and remain the same place revenue wise.  You cannot increase spending and maintain the same 398 
millage.  He was not in favor of a tax increase, but could collectively discuss it, because that is what 399 
elected officials have to do.  With respect to the stormwater millage, he thought there was a legal opinion. 400 
 401 
 Ms. Fellner said Mr. Dodge raised the question about the legality of expropriating the 5 mils from 402 
stormwater to the general fund, and she obtained a legal opinion.  The town attorney’s legal opinion and 403 
the opinion of Scott Slatton, Municipal Association of South Carolina Legislative and Public Policy 404 
Advocate, both said that millage could be used for whatever designation Town Council deemed once the 405 
expiration happened.  It did not revert and reduce the millage.  The town will not lose the 5 mils.   406 
 407 
 Mr. Smith said the town’s millage rate would stay at 40 mils.  Ms. Fellner said yes, sir. 408 
 409 
 Mayor Samples said Town Council has the opportunity to retain the millage for capital projects as 410 
had been done in years past; it was a council decision and a council policy.  Staff did an extraordinary job 411 
before presenting the budget.  They went through and cut more than they wanted to, although it might not 412 
be as much as Town Council wants to cut.  He gave staff credit where it is due; they cut a lot of expenses 413 
out.  If Town Council wants to retain the 5 mils for capital projects, a motion needs to be adopted to give 414 
staff a clear indication of council’s wishes to the budget can be prepared.   415 
 416 
 Ms. Fellner said an executive session was scheduled for this session since there are a number of 417 
salary and benefit issues that she would prefer that they be discussed in executive session, if council 418 
wants to discuss them.  The town is so small that everyone knows who is being discussed when certain 419 
departments or positions are mentioned.  There may be other places that Town Council would like to 420 
make cuts; staff was looking for Town Council’s direction.       421 
 422 
 Mayor Samples was not inclined to enter executive session, but it was up to Town Council.  He 423 
believed there were non-personnel matters that could be discussed.  He asked if the numbers reported 424 
for the upcoming fiscal year assumed no pay increase.  Ms. King believed no pay increases were 425 
included.  Mayor Samples believed it was a simple matter and should be done openly.  The budget 426 
presented included a 3-percent raise.  Town Council spent an hour discussing various pay options and 427 
bonus payments.  Since that time, he believed they had all learned that the town’s financial situation was 428 
probably tighter than was first believed.  The town has been good to the employees, even granting pay 429 
raises when the economy suffered.  He believed the reality is that employees would have to “bite the 430 
bullet;” he supported no pay increases across the board in FY13-14.   431 
 432 
 Ms. Dodge seconded that; she did not like the idea of doing anything on the backs of the town 433 
employees.  She did not want to get rid of any employees, because people depend on their jobs.  The 434 
fact of the matter is, if the town does not have the money, they cannot be paid anyway.  So, the council 435 
needs to do what it has to do to keep the town afloat.  She did not mean to be dramatic, but that is the 436 
case.   437 
 438 
 Mr. Smith supported no pay increases this year, and so the action would be in open public said, “I 439 
move that we don’t give pay increases for the Fiscal Year 13-14.”  Ms. Dodge seconded.  All voted in 440 
favor.  MOTION CARRIED. 441 
 442 
 Mr. Smith moved to adopt the other proposals presented by staff that includes (1) eliminate the 443 
façade grant, $50,000; (2) move the magazine to hospitality, $25,000, and (3) increase the transfer to the 444 
general fund for rent from the sanitation fund, $42,860.  Ms. Dodge seconded.  445 
 446 



Town Council Budget Workshop 
May 14, 2013 
 

Page 9 of 16 
 

 Ms. Dodge believed the budget should be cut across the board at least 5-percent, and perhaps 7-447 
percent and that would be what the town would work with and leave it to staff’s discretion to figure out 448 
how to make it work.   449 
 450 
 Mayor Samples asked if Ms. Dodge would like to state an amendment to the motion or wait to 451 
offer a new motion once the motion on the floor was disposed.   452 
 453 
 Ms. Dodge said she would wait. 454 
 455 
 All voted in favor.  MOTION CARRIED. 456 
 457 
 Mayor Samples asked if anyone had any other ideas. 458 
 459 
 Ms. Kohlmann said she was just doing numbers and asked about the $25,250 expense for phone 460 
land lines, and $9,750 for cell phones, and she was really bothered by the $6,800 being paid for cable.  461 
The grounds department expense was $3,000 and asked if there was a reason why grounds has a $250 462 
a month cable bill.  She asked for explanations one at a time, because she really wanted to know about 463 
that.  Ms. Fellner said the ground department recently discontinued the cable; they no longer have cell 464 
phones, and all the phone land lines at Huckabee were cancelled, and all of the computer equipment.  465 
Ms. Kohlmann asked if that would adjust the budget by those figures.  Ms. Fellner said right.  Ms. 466 
Kohlmann asked for an explanation of the $3,000 expenditure for non-departmental cable at $250 a 467 
month, which is more than she has at home.  Ms. Fellner said that was town hall, which included 468 
television.  Ms. Kohlmann said cable television in town promoted laziness and promotes people watching 469 
Myrtle Manor.  Ms. Fellner said that problem did not exist.  If there is an emergency, it is a good thing to 470 
have one connection; multiple connections were not needed.  Ms. Kohlmann asked if the town needed 471 
$250 a month, which would pay for every single channel cable offers.  Ms. Fellner said honestly she had 472 
never turned on the television in town hall.  However, she would be happy to review the expenditure.  Ms. 473 
Kohlmann said she was bringing up $3,000 and $6,000 amounts.  Mayor Samples asked Ms. Kohlmann if 474 
she wanted more information.  Ms. Kohlmann said no, she did not want to spend $6,800 on Time Warner 475 
Cable.  Ms. Fellner said that was not just for cable.  It also includes internet.  There is voice over IP at the 476 
fire station.  Ms. Kohlmann said maybe it is just how it is stated in the budget, if the description in the 477 
budget had said internet and not cable service, she probably would not have even thought about it.  Ms. 478 
Fellner understood her comment and said it was described as cable, because that is who provides the 479 
internet service.   480 
 481 
 Mayor Samples believed that council has an obligation to approach the budget from the top down 482 
and the bottom up.  The town has a council form of government, and as a council form of government, the 483 
council has legislative, executive, and administrative responsibilities.   484 
 485 
 Ms. Kohlmann asked for clarification on how gas is purchased and distributed. She asked if 486 
department directors or other had credit cards, where was gas purchased; the town seems to spend so 487 
much money when it’s totaled up between and gas the operation of motor vehicles to amount of $336,705 488 
a year.  Ms. Fellner asked if she was talking about gas or diesel.  Ms. Kohlmann said gas and diesel, 489 
because sanitation diesel in included in that number.  She asked if diesel was stored at Sandy Lane.  Ms. 490 
Fellner said yes, and for the vehicles, i.e. the town administration car, there is a gas card that stays in it 491 
and the town gets a reduced rate for fuel.  Separate personal identification numbers (PIN) are given to 492 
every employee.  Ms. Kohlmann asked if everybody had that; the police department vehicles, the fire 493 
department vehicles.  Anybody that buys gas has to have that card or a PIN number.  She asked if that 494 
how purchases are controlled.  Ms. Fellner said yes, said occasionally someone would use a credit card 495 
instead of the discount card.  Ms. Kohlmann said $3.75/gallon is not a lower rate, which is used on every 496 
department for gas.  Ms. Fellner said that amount was only for budgeting purposes.  The number 497 
fluctuates; staff has no way of knowing what fuel will actually cost.   498 
 499 
 Mr. Smith asked which stations were used to purchase gasoline.  Ms. Fellner said the discount 500 
card is not accepted at all filing stations; Kangaroo and BP accepts the card.  Chief Keziah said the 501 
discount card is through Fuelman and fuel could be purchased at any station that takes Fuelman. 502 



Town Council Budget Workshop 
May 14, 2013 
 

Page 10 of 16 
 

 503 
 Mayor Samples thought Ms. Kohlmann had put her finger right on an issue that has not been 504 
considered by council in many, many years, which is the use of vehicles and the fuel expense.  He asked 505 
when staff had last analyzed it.  Ms. Fellner said not since she started.  Ms. King said it was probably just 506 
before the Fuelman card was implemented, because the town used to have its own gas tank.  507 
 508 
 Mr. Smith asked what percentage of the gasoline budget had been used so far this year.  Ms. 509 
Fellner did not know; she would have to let him know.  Mr. Smith asked if the gasoline budget could be 510 
cut by 5-percent in every department for next year.  Ms. Fellner would not even hazard a guess.  Mr. 511 
Smith asked her to get some data so when council met again she could make a recommendation.  Ms. 512 
Fellner said yes, sir.   513 
 514 
 Mayor Samples asked if there was a vehicle take-home policy.  Ms. Fellner said yes, certain 515 
police who include:  police chief; two detectives (unmarked cars); police captain, and drug enforcement 516 
officer.  Ms. Kohlmann and Mr. Smith said that totaled five.   517 
 518 
 Ms. Kohlmann believed the police chief should take home a car, and asked if it would be fair to 519 
say since the town is only two square miles that anything that happened would require officers to drive 520 
pass the police station, so they could drive to the police station and get in a car to go to the scene.  She 521 
knew that was nitpicking, but having take-home cars created other liabilities for the town.  She asked if 522 
there was a policy to require the car to be parked and not utilized when it is driven home.  Ms. Fellner 523 
said the car should be parked.  Ms. Kohlmann asked if it was clear to employees that the take-home cars 524 
could not be driven to dinner with six people in the car, because if there is an accident, the town would be 525 
liable.  Ms. Fellner said that is already policy, and when a prior incident occurred in a town vehicle, a very 526 
strong memorandum was sent to employees reminding them of the policies.  No staff from administration, 527 
finance, or planning, building and zoning employees have take-home vehicles.  Ms. Kohlmann said the 528 
police chief needed to have a car to get where he needs to be, because he is on call 24/7; but, in fairness 529 
and the way gas and insurance prices are she did not understand why all the others needed take-home 530 
cars.  The narcotics car is funded from a different place, but she thought the captain and the detectives 531 
were a stretch.  She thought it was a real good perk, but thought at these times some of those perks 532 
should be reconsidered.  Ms. Fellner did not know that the detectives would always be coming to the 533 
station first.  Ms. Kohlmann said they would have to go to the crime scene first, she agreed with that, 534 
because they would be the detective in charge of the crime scene.  Ms. Fellner asked if she was saying 535 
they would have to come with their vehicle from wherever they live to the police station and then change 536 
the vehicle and go to the crime scene.  Ms. Kohlmann said she went through budget cuts in New York 537 
City, and in three years there were no raises.  When there was a crime scene she drove from her home to 538 
the crime scene in her own car and just made do with that, because that is what she had to do.  She was 539 
not saying the detectives should drive to the crime scene in their own cars, but she thought the policy 540 
should be reconsidered because the town is only two square miles.  Mayor Samples agreed.  Ms. 541 
Kohlmann said she was not suggesting taking away all take-home vehicles, but they need to be 542 
reconsidered if council is going to get the budget on-line, that is one of many issue to consider.  Ms. 543 
Kohlmann asked how often detectives had to respond that they would need to drive the car home every 544 
day, which is a lot of gas and mileage on the vehicle that the town needs to stretch out the life of.  If 545 
council is really going to look at things, some of those things need to be looked at too.   546 
 547 
 Ms. Dodge asked if Ms. Kohlmann was just speaking about the police department.  Ms. 548 
Kohlmann said it was the only department talked about so far.  Ms. Dodge did not believe department 549 
directors should be allowed to take town vehicles home and drive them back.  It is not the town’s 550 
responsibility.   551 
 552 
 Mr. Smith asked other than the police department, which department directors took home cars.  553 
Ms. Fellner said the fire chief and the public works director take trucks home.  Mr. Smith asked if those 554 
were the only two, and the fire chief has to respond to fires, and would not want to take time to come by 555 
the fire station.  Ms. Fellner said he needs the equipment in his vehicle, too.  Mr. Smith said right, and if 556 
there are incidences in public works, the director needs to get here quickly.  Ms. Fellner said yes, sir, she 557 
believed so.  Mr. Smith said okay and he thought he was in favor of the public works director, and the fire 558 



Town Council Budget Workshop 
May 14, 2013 
 

Page 11 of 16 
 

chief to driving vehicles home.  He asked if Chief Keziah would review the cars being driven home by the 559 
police department and make a recommendation to council.  He did not want him to make a decision right 560 
now, but would to hear a recommendation or information to justify the five take-home cars. 561 
 562 
 Mr. Johnson concurred with Mr. Smith’s comments. 563 
 564 
 Ms. Kohlmann thought that was fair to bring a recommendation. 565 
 566 
 Mayor Samples also believed it was fair, but thought council did need to understand that it is a 567 
perk, a privilege.  It cost the town money, and it is part of a compensation package is how he viewed it.  568 
There are other ways of compensating outstanding performance.  He would like to ensure there is an up-569 
to-date policy.  He believed Mr. Booth was the administrator the last time a memo was issued regarding 570 
an arrest that occurred when a public vehicle was involved.  He thought council had an obligation to up-571 
date the personnel manual clearly; there are liability issues that exist, the pick-up and transport of children 572 
to and from school is one that comes to his mind.  Council needs to look for ways to protect the town’s 573 
interest, while protecting its employees.   574 
 575 
 Mayor Samples called for recess at 4:33 p.m. and reconvened at 4:39 p.m. 576 
 577 
 Mayor Samples asked if there were personnel matters that should be discussed in executive 578 
session.  Ms. Mabry and Mr. Smith said yes.  Mr. Johnson said no.   579 
 580 
 Ms. Mabry moved to enter executive session at 4:40 p.m.  Mr. Smith seconded.  All voted in 581 
favor.  MOTION CARRIED. 582 
 583 
 Ms. Dodge moved to reconvene regular session at 5:27 p.m.  Mr. Johnson seconded.  All voted in 584 
favor.  MOTION CARRIED. 585 
 586 
 Mayor Samples said that no action was taken during executive session. 587 
 588 
 Ms. Kohlmann was concerned because the check registry shows employee reimbursement for 589 
the fiscal year as of now totals $25,084.13.  She understand that was for per diems and other types 590 
reimbursement, but due to transparency, in her opinion the names should be stated with amount and 591 
reimbursement reason, i.e., Councilmember Kohlmann, $320, per diem, that way there would be no 592 
question as to whom is receiving the money and where it is going.  For instance, the notation January 31, 593 
2013 employee reimbursement $1,150 does not explain anything to her.  It just says that some employee 594 
got a $1,100 check and she was sure they turned in receipts, but reiterated that due to transparency it 595 
was really important, and asked her to look at it and let them know if there was a particular reason it was 596 
done that way.  Ms. Fellner said there was no problem changing it, but then again that would be more 597 
time to break down everything out.  If Town Council wants it broken out, staff would do so.  Ms. Kohlmann 598 
asked what difference was between typing employee reimbursement and a name.  Ms. Fellner said the 599 
reimbursements are lumped together to have one line instead of breaking out each individual 600 
reimbursement.  Ms. Kohlmann said this was her opinion, and it involved $25,000.   601 
 602 
 Mayor Samples asked councilmembers for their opinions on whether the check registry should 603 
show specific individual details instead of adding the items together and showing one generic employee 604 
reimbursement total. 605 
 606 
 Mr. Smith did not think the information should be specific to the individual. 607 
 608 
 Mr. Stevens asked if the information was not specific, how would anyone know what the money 609 
was spent for. 610 
 611 
 Ms. Mabry said it was not a burning desire of hers, and that she was sure that councilmembers 612 
could get specific details about how much was spent and who it was for, they could ask.  To take up time 613 



Town Council Budget Workshop 
May 14, 2013 
 

Page 12 of 16 
 

when council is trying to reduce time is counterproductive.  She believes there may be times when it 614 
could be separated, but not during crunch times.  Staff could get to it when they get to it. 615 
 616 
 Mr. Johnson agreed with Mayor Pro Tem Mabry. 617 
 618 
 Mayor Samples said the disclosure would remain as is.   619 
 620 
 Ms. Kohlmann said the town has Sam’s Club, Lowe’s, Home Depot, Office Depot, and Wal-Mart; 621 
over $12,000, to Sam’s Club; $17,000 at Lowe’s; $13,000 at Home Depot; $7,000 at Office Depot, and 622 
asked how those expenditures were controlled.  She said $12,000 at Sam’s Club seemed like a lot of 623 
money.  Ms. Fellner said a lot of that is for events, especially the Sam’s Club.  There is a spread sheet 624 
prepared for every single credit card by department to which the check requests forms that explain the 625 
expenditure, and the receipts have to be attached.  Ms. Kohlmann said so they have the information; she 626 
had not visited with Ms. King, and said maybe that is what she should do to see how things are done.  If 627 
that is already done, there was no need to ask for opinions. 628 
 629 
 Ms. Kohlmann asked what the difference is between rental uniform service, which was $5,554 630 
and uniform equipment that was about $23,000 for rental uniform service and uniforms and equipment.  631 
What were uniforms rented for and did that include dry cleaning.  Ms. Fellner said that was in public 632 
works.  Mayor Samples asked for an explanation of the service. 633 
 634 
 Mr. Adair said the uniforms are let for competitive bid.  Rental Uniform Service (RUS) is the 635 
current provided and he believed it that contract expires this year.  Every employee receives a certain 636 
number of sets of uniforms with his name and the town logo, including shorts for the summer season.  637 
Every Tuesday the uniforms are picked up and fresh uniforms are delivered.  RUS also provides cleaning 638 
for the runners and mats at public works.   639 
 640 
 Mr. Smith asked where the mats are used.  Mr. Adair said there are runners in the hallways 641 
where staff walks in with dirty boots.   642 
 643 
 Mayor Samples asked when this would be re-procured.  Mr. Adair believed it would be in the fall.  644 
Ms. Fellner said the town did try purchasing uniforms in the past for public works and it did not work.  645 
People came to work looking horrible and did not represent the town well at all.  Mayor Samples said he 646 
understood.  Ms. Kohlmann said the guys definitely look good out there working.  Mayor Samples asked if 647 
the bid would be presented to council.  Mr. Adair said absolutely.   648 
 649 
 Ms. Kohlmann said on page 120 events were $12,000 family festival and $3,000 a-tax totaling 650 
$15,000 and on page 121 the exact same listings are given, then on page 123 $29,000 is listed; she said 651 
it was confusing because all the numbers were the same.  Ms. Ellis said on page 120 the $15,000 total is 652 
advertising for those events only.  It is not the actual cost of the event.  On page 121, the totals are the 653 
cost for the actual event for bands, stages, etc.  Ms. Kohlmann said the total is $39,000.  Ms. Ellis said it 654 
should be corrected to $29,000, and the farmers market should be added for $5,000.  Ms. Kohlmann 655 
asked about the luau.  Ms. Ellis said that was in accommodations tax.   656 
 657 
 Ms. Kohlmann said on pages 83 it shows camera upgrades for $1,500 on page 84 it shows the 658 
same thing under hardware.  Ms. Fellner said those were different items and were for hardware and 659 
software.  Chief Keziah said that is to upgrade the outdoor security cameras at the police station, Sally 660 
port, and the skateboard park. 661 
 662 
 Ms. Kohlmann asked how much a random drug testing cost.  Mr. Adair said $65.  Ms. Kohlmann 663 
asked how many times employees were tested.  Mayor Samples said monthly.  Ms. Kohlmann said CDLs 664 
and others and asked if it was done.  Mr. Adair said there is a contract with Doctor’s Care.  There are 665 
approximately 16 CDL drivers working for the town.  The US Department of Transportation regulations 666 
require at least 50-percent of the drivers have to be tested.  It is random; sometimes the same driver is 667 
chosen two times in a row.  The names are sent to him and the driver is taken that day for testing.  Ms. 668 
Kohlmann was just making sure it was done and thanked Mr. Adair. 669 



Town Council Budget Workshop 
May 14, 2013 
 

Page 13 of 16 
 

 670 
 Ms. Kohlmann said on page 73 the bottom line shows $14,500, but there is no explanation.  Ms. 671 
Fellner said that was video recording that was deleted from the budget.   672 
 673 
 Ms. Kohlmann said on page 161 it shows that Grand Strand Water and Sewer is paid $1.25 per 674 
account to handle the sanitation billing.  She asked if this was something that could be handled by finance 675 
and billed quarterly or added to the tax bills.  She was there was a reason for this; they pay the sanitation 676 
bill or they don’t get water.  Mayor Samples said that was right.  Ms. Kohlmann said it behooves the town 677 
to pay this fee.  She just wanted to make sure that was what it was. 678 
 679 
 Ms. Mabry said paying Grand Strand Water and Sewer was cheaper than hiring staff to manage 680 
the billing and collection.  Ms. Kohlmann said right, she just wanted to make sure. 681 
 682 
 Ms. Kohlmann asked if the same IT person handled all of the town’s work.  Ms. Fellner said there 683 
is one IT provider.  684 
 685 
 Ms. Dodge said gift cards were given for birthdays, anniversaries, Christmas, Thanksgiving.  686 
Mayor Samples asked if that was so.  Ms. Fellner said that was for a gift card at Thanksgiving.   687 
 688 
 Ms. Kohlmann said the total amount is $3,600; each employee gets a $30 gift card. They do not 689 
get them for birthdays.   690 
 691 
 Mayor Samples asked if that was acceptable.   692 
 693 
 Ms. Kohlmann said yes.   694 
 695 
 Mr. Smith asked if permanent part time employees also received $30 cards.  Ms. Fellner said yes.   696 
 697 
 Ms. Dodge said she did not want it to appear that she was trying to do something on the backs of 698 
the town employees, because the town has great employees, but the town does a lot for them.  She was 699 
wondering if some of that could be cut, even though she did not have any suggestions.  She suggested 700 
the funding for beach access cameras be deleted for now.  She did not understand about replacing 701 
flooring in planning, building and zoning.  Is it hazardous to walk on; is it slippery or what?  Ms. Fellner 702 
said the floor had been stripped and re-stripped so many times that it is destroyed.  So many contractors 703 
that come into the building have debris on their boots soiling the floor and the floor requires constant 704 
cleaning.  The plan is to replace it with laminate flooring similar to what was done in the court, which is 705 
very inexpensive.  The flooring has to be a product that can be cleaned easily.  She said it looked really 706 
bad and she would be happy to show councilmembers, if they wanted to see it.    707 
 708 
 Ms. Fellner said the beach access cameras are being purchased with donated monies.  Ms. 709 
Dodge said thank you. 710 
 711 
 Ms. Dodge asked if the insurances for all of the town buildings were let for bids; was there one 712 
company that is normally worked with.  Ms. Fellner said primarily one company provides insurance.  Ms. 713 
Dodge asked if other companies were contacted to compare prices.   714 
 715 
 Mayor Samples asked if the state provided insurance.  Ms. King said the Municipal Association of 716 
South Carolina provides some insurance coverage.  Ms. Fellner said other companies are used for things 717 
such as the pier.  Mayor Samples said that was for general liability; not structural.  He asked if car 718 
insurance was through the state.  Ms. Fellner said yes. 719 
 720 
 Ms. Dodge moved to not hire any new employees unless repealed by Council.  Mr. Stevens 721 
seconded.   722 
 723 
 Mr. Smith asked how many positions are currently open.  Ms. Fellner said one in the police 724 
department.  Mr. Smith understood there are 73 full time employees.  Ms. Fellner said yes.  Mr. Smith 725 



Town Council Budget Workshop 
May 14, 2013 
 

Page 14 of 16 
 

asked if that included the open position.  Ms. Fellner believed it was 74 with that open position.  She 726 
would confirm that information.  Mr. Smith believed it was important to know current staffing, because he 727 
did not want to eliminate a position.  Mr. Smith moved to amend the motion that the head count for full 728 
time employees does not exceed 74 and that the permanent part time positions that we current have do 729 
not increase.  Ms. Dodge seconded. 730 
 731 
 Ms. Kohlmann just wanted to make sure she had it right.  The chief would not be told he could not 732 
hire a police officer or if Mr. Adair loses two staff members, he can replace them, right?  She did not want 733 
to find out the town is down four police officers because of a hiring freeze.  He needs to do what he’s 734 
gotta do to run the department, especially during this time of year.  She asked if she understood correctly.   735 
 736 
 Mr. Smith said that was the reason for specifying head count instead of having a hiring freeze.  737 
The head count cannot exceed 74 people.  Mayor Samples said full time.  Mr. Smith said full time. 738 
 739 
 Ms. Mabry said she did not want the police to lose two employees and public works to gain two 740 
employees to meet the head count.  She believed staffing should be considered closer and worded a little 741 
better.  She understood the reasoning and agreed, but when you say a head count you limit that, because 742 
people could be switched around between departments.  She preferred a limitation based on department. 743 
Ms. Fellner asked if the limitation could be tied to the organizational chart.  Ms. Mabry said maybe. 744 
 745 
 Mr. Smith said he would be glad to add that to the amendment.  Mayor Samples asked that the 746 
motion to amend and restate.  Mr. Smith withdrew the motion to amend.  Ms. Dodge withdrew the 747 
second.  Mr. Smith moved that the head count be fixed at 74 total permanent employees for the town, but 748 
that each department is also limited to the current organizational chart in terms of employee count.   749 
 750 
 Ms. Kohlmann did not hear.  Mr. Smith offered to restate the amendment. 751 
 752 
 Mayor Samples suggested before action was taken saying he believed he understood the intent 753 
that before the amendment was restated that staff bring a report by category of employment, i.e., full time 754 
regular, full time part time, and seasonal part time.  The town’s personnel policy manual clearly identifies 755 
the employment categories.  He believed council needed to be certain that the intent is captured and he 756 
did not believe that could be done on the fly.  He reiterated that the personnel manual should be reviewed 757 
to determine employment types and staff needs to report to Town Council the number of employees in 758 
each category so that council can then take the appropriate action.  Ms. Fellner asked if numbers should 759 
be tied to the departments.  Mayor Samples believed that was fair, also. 760 
 761 
 Mr. Smith withdrew his amendment.  Ms. Dodge withdrew her motion for now.  Mayor Samples 762 
said the matter will be revisited soon. 763 
 764 
 Mr. Stevens said on page 155 there might be a typo.  There is a line that says DHEC MS4 Annual 765 
Fee $2K, CCU consortium of $8K, Waccamaw Council of Governments $1.5K, and Earthworks annual 766 
report $3.75K, that totals $15,250, but the amount column shows $31,875.  Ms. King said the cost 767 
amounts for the descriptions on line two just were left off.  The amount is $31,875 for everything on those 768 
two lines.   Mr. Stevens said the second line shows zero, which is why he asked the question.  Ms. King 769 
said that it was just an error and apologized.   770 
 771 
 Mayor Samples asked if there should be amounts by the second line information.  Ms. King said 772 
to be consistent that would be correct; all of those items together equal $31,875.  These pages are 773 
retyped after the departments prepare their individual detail sheets, and it was just an oversight that the 774 
amounts were not included.  Mayor Samples asked how much work was sent to Earthworks.  Mr. Adair 775 
answered from the floor and the answer did not could record clearly…(**) jurisdictional determination, 776 
DHEC service permit for a total of $5 or $6 thousand per year (**) and all that stuff comes out of there.   777 
 778 
 Ms. Mabry asked if any of the inspections and permitting work would be able to be done in house.  779 
Mr. Adair answered from the floor and the answer did not could record clearly (**) MS4 permitting is 780 
different from the stormwater inspections.  Ms. Mabry asked if there was way to save money spent at 781 



Town Council Budget Workshop 
May 14, 2013 
 

Page 15 of 16 
 

Earthworks.  Ms. Morris said in her office any new construction or addition that requires a stormwater 782 
permit, the stormwater plans are sent to Earthworks to review and send back to the town, and Earthworks 783 
makes the inspections on the plan review.  She just was certified in stormwater inspections, so she can 784 
now make those inspections.  The building official, Kevin Otte, is scheduled to take the stormwater plan 785 
review test so he will be certified to review plans.  Once that is done, those tasks will be performed in 786 
house.  Ms. Mabry said that should net the town a savings.  Ms. Sabrina said yes, of about $20,000.   787 
 788 
 Mr. Stevens asked since the stormwater millage is supposedly going to run out, and the town 789 
does not have a stormwater millage, then will the town be able to fund the CCU volunteer water quality 790 
monitoring system for two sites at a cost of $7,000 each or a total $14,000 a year.   791 
 792 
 Mayor Samples said those are allowable expenses under the general fund and perhaps some 793 
hospitality funds if the water quality is tourist related, which he believed was part of keeping the beach up.  794 
Just because the stormwater millage allocation was not adopted, water quality testing could be approved 795 
through other funds and would continue.       796 
 797 
 Mr. Smith asked Ms. Fellner to determine whether water quality monitoring could be paid for with 798 
hospitality funds.  Mayor Samples said that was a good suggestion. 799 
 800 
 Ms. Mabry said the runoff definitely goes directly to the beach, which is her concern.   801 
 802 
 Ms. Fellner asked if it should be checked for this year or next year.   803 
 804 
 Mr. Smith said next year, but if there were funds available, also this year; another $14,000. 805 
 806 
 Mayor Samples said that was a good suggestion. 807 
 808 
 Mr. Stevens referred to page 155, $400,000 for phased drainage improvements and said he 809 
assumed that money had already been allocated, but asked if that was something new.  Ms. Fellner said 810 
those funds were allocated. 811 
 812 
 Ms. Dodge said there is a line item for Tree City in the amount of $7,600 and asked if the town is 813 
required to participate.  Mayor Samples said the requirement under the Tree City designation is that the 814 
town budget money for the tree city.  There is no requirement that it be spent.  Mr. Adair said general at 815 
least double that amount is spent on tree maintenance and things like that.   816 
 817 
 Mr. Stevens referred to page 153 and said he was familiar with the Beach Ball Classic, which is a 818 
basketball tournament, and asked if it was related to Surfside Beach.  He asked why the town funds 819 
$5,000 for advertising.  Ms. Ellis explained that the advertisement goes in the tournament program.  In 820 
return for the purchase, the town receives tickets to the basketball games.  Mr. Stevens asked if that was 821 
a council perk that cost $5,000.  Ms. Ellis said there is no cost for the tickets; the ad cost $5,000.   822 
 823 
 Ms. Mabry said the town has participated in this since the Beach Ball Classic was established.  824 
The advertisement gets the town name out in the public and it is a large advertisement.   825 
 826 
 Mr. Stevens asked what benefit was received from it.   827 
 828 
 Ms. Mabry said it advertisings the town.  829 
 830 
 Ms. Kohlmann said it is being a good neighbor and supporting sporting events.   831 
 832 
 Mr. Stevens asked if this actually paid for the councilmembers’ tickets.  Ms. Ellis said no.  The 833 
number of tickets received is based on the size of the advertisement.  The funds support Socastee and 834 
St. James High Schools.  The ad includes the town’s list of annual events.   835 
  836 



Town Council Budget Workshop 
May 14, 2013 
 

Page 16 of 16 
 

 Mr. Stevens asked if any accommodations tax revenue was received from the event.  Ms. Fellner 837 
did not know.   838 
 839 
 Mayor Samples asked if the advertisement was paid for with accommodations tax funds.  Ms. 840 
Ellis said yes.  Mayor Samples said it must be tourist related.  Ms. Ellis said the teams that get the 841 
programs are from all over the United States.  The players get their programs autographed and take them 842 
home with them as souvenirs.   843 
 844 
 Mr. Stevens asked if any of the teams were solicited to stay in Surfside.  Ms. Ellis said they 845 
secure their own rooms.  All the town does is purchase an advertisement just as any other business 846 
would do.   847 
 848 
 Mr. Johnson moved to adjourn the workshop at 6:10 p.m.  Ms. Mabry seconded.  All voted in 849 
favor.  MOTION CARRIED. 850 
 851 
      Respectfully submitted, 852 
 853 
      _____________________________________________  854 
      Debra E. Herrmann, CMC, Town Clerk 855 
 856 
Approved:    May 28, 2013 857 
 858 

____________________________________ 859 
Douglas F. Samples, Mayor 860 

         861 
_______________________________________ ______________________________________ 862 
Mary M. Mabry, Mayor Pro Tempore   Ann Dodge, Town Council 863 
 864 
_______________________________________ ______________________________________ 865 
Mark L Johnson, Town Council    Elizabeth A. Kohlmann, Town Council 866 
 867 
_______________________________________ ______________________________________ 868 
Roderick E. Smith, Town Council      Randle M. Stevens, Town Council 869 
 870 
Clerk’s Note:  This document constitutes detailed summary minutes of the workshop, which was audio 871 
taped.  This meeting was transcribed by Town Clerk Herrmann. In accordance with FOIA, meeting notice 872 
and the agenda were distributed to local media and interested parties.  The agenda was posted on 873 
bulletin boards outside Council Chambers and in the Town Hall reception area.  Meeting notice was also 874 
posted on the Town marquee.  Public comments are transcribed as close to verbatim as possible.  When 875 
(**) is used, a section of the transcription is inaudible.  Appointments to hear the audio tape may be 876 
scheduled with the town clerk.  877 



 

Page 1 of 13 
 

  SURFSIDE BEACH TOWN COUNCIL  1 
  REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES  2 
  MAY 14, 2013 6:30 P.M. 3 
         TOWN COUNCIL CHAMBERS 4 
 5 
 6 
 7 
 1.  CALL TO ORDER.   8 
 9 
 Mayor Samples called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m.  Mayor Samples, Mayor Pro Tempore 10 
Mabry, and Councilmembers Dodge, Johnson, Kohlmann, Smith, and Stevens were in attendance.  A 11 
quorum was present.  Others present:  Town Administrator Fellner; Finance Director King; Planning 12 
Director Morris; Police Chief Keziah; Fire Chief Cimini, Public Works Director Adair; Recreation 13 
Supervisor Ellis, and Town Clerk Herrmann.    14 
 15 
 2.  INVOCATION AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE.   16 
 17 
 Rev. Ronald Greiser, Church of the Resurrection, gave the invocation.  Mayor Samples lead the 18 
Pledge. 19 
 20 
 3.  AGENDA APPROVAL. 21 
 22 
 Mr. Smith moved to approve the agenda.  Ms. Dodge seconded.   23 
 24 
 Mayor Samples said Business Item 7.C Second Reading of Ordinance Number 13-0747, 25 
FY2012-2013 Budget Amendments would be deferred until the May 28th meeting.  There were no 26 
objections.   27 
 28 
 All voted in favor.  MOTION CARRIED. 29 
 30 
 4.  MINUTES APPROVAL. 31 
 32 
 A.  Workshop April 8, 2013.  Mr. Smith moved to approve the minutes of the April 8, 2013 33 
workshop minutes.  Ms. Dodge seconded.  All voted in favor.  MOTION CARRIED. 34 
 35 
 B.  Special Meeting April 17, 2013.  Ms. Kohlmann moved to approve the April 17, 2013 special 36 
meeting minutes.  Mr. Smith seconded.  All voted in favor.  MOTION CARRIED. 37 
 38 
 C.  Regular Meeting April 23, 2013.  Ms. Kohlmann moved to approve the April 23, 2013 regular 39 
meeting minutes.  Ms. Dodge seconded.  All voted in favor.  MOTION CARRIED. 40 
 41 
 D.  Budget Workshop April 25 and 26, 2013.  Ms. Kohlmann moved to approve the April 25 and 42 
26, 2013 budget workshop minutes.  Ms. Dodge seconded.  All voted in favor.  MOTION CARRIED. 43 
 44 
 E.  Special Meeting May 3, 2013.  Ms. Kohlmann moved to approve the May 3, 2013 special 45 
meeting minutes.  Ms. Dodge seconded.  All voted in favor.  MOTION CARRIED. 46 
 47 
 F.  Special Meeting May 8, 2013.  Mr. Johnson moved to approve the May 8, 2013 special 48 
meeting minutes with a scrivener’s error correction to state that he and Councilmember Stevens were 49 
present at the meeting.  Ms. Kohlmann seconded.  All voted in favor.  MOTION CARRIED. 50 
 51 
 5.  PUBLIC COMMENTS – Agenda Items (3 minutes.) 52 
 53 
 “Marty Rhoades.  1018 Cedar Drive South.  I just wanted to comment on the, ah, budget that 54 
you’re looking at.  Just, ah, had my concerns about the, ah, overages in the general fund, and hopefully, 55 
you are looking very hard at it, because it’s gonna require some, ah, serious, ah, decisions, on y’all’s part 56 



Regular Town Council Meeting 
May 14, 2013 

Page 2 of 13 
 

to, ah, bring about, hopefully, a balanced budget, and I would also like to see y’all put something in the 57 
budget about building up our unassigned funds.  That and I know you’re looking at things line-by-line, 58 
department-by-department, and hopefully, and, that you have actually asked these people that work in 59 
these departments if, ah, they have any input on, you know, what can I do to help, or what can you do to, 60 
ah, help us get our balanced budget set.  What can we do without?  Other than that, I, that’s what I came 61 
to speak about.” 62 
 63 
 6.  COMMUNICATIONS. 64 
 65 
 A.  Proclamation #13-84, National Safe Boating Week, May 18-24, 2013. 66 
 67 
 Mayor Samples presented the proclamation declaring National Safe Boating Week, May 18-24, 68 
2013, and encouraging the public to wear life jackets to US Coast Guard Officers Tommy Timberlake, 69 
Chuck Budnick, and Brandon Sawyer.  (Applause.) 70 
 71 
 Officer Budnick said Surfside Beach is their home, and read a prepared note for the acceptance 72 
of the proclamation.  73 
 74 

The US Coast Guard and US Coast Guard Auxiliary Central Grand Strand 75 
Flotilla 204 would like to thank the Town of Surfside Beach for considering 76 
this proclamation on behalf of boating and water safety communities.  With 77 
our large grand strand commercial and recreational boating community, it is 78 
important that we recognize that water safety is a serious matter that affects 79 
all of us.  Thank you, the Town of Surfside Beach for supporting us in our 80 
effort.  This proclamation is one step of many that we will undertake during 81 
National Safe Boating Week 2013 to raise boating safety awareness.  We 82 
invite the community to take advantage of free, confidential vessel 83 
examinations 12-4 will conduct during National Safe Boating Week.  These 84 
vessel safety checks will be on the Intracoastal Waterway at the Socastee 85 
Boat Landing and at many other public boat landings in Horry County.  The 86 
theme of National Safe Boating Week is to wear your personal flotation 87 
device, life jacket.  Thank you all.  88 

 89 
 B.  Department Reports. 90 
 91 
 i.  Planning, Building & Zoning. 92 
 93 
 Ms. Morris presented the written report, a copy of which is on file.  Staff issued 134 permits in 94 
April compared to 95 last year.  Staff performed 126 inspections; 18 plan reviews, and 95 business 95 
licenses were issued.  The old Taco Bell and the old St. Angelo’s buildings are currently being renovated 96 
and the new businesses expect to be open within the next several weeks.  Several signs were removed 97 
from rights-of-way.  Several public complaints were addressed.  There were six contractors working 98 
without permits, who subsequently purchased permits.  Some were new contractors in the area who were 99 
not aware of the requirements.  There were four on-site new contractor consultations.  Ms. Morris said 100 
she passed the stormwater inspector exam and was now certified to perform stormwater inspections.  101 
The building official is going to test for stormwater plan review certification.  The goal is to perform those 102 
functions in-house.  The department had been receiving at least six complaints a week about the property 103 
at 318 16th Avenue North.  The owner obtained a demolition permit, so that property will be cleared.   104 
 105 
 Mayor Samples asked if the house being moved on Ocean Boulevard would traverse on the new 106 
paving.  Ms. Morris said it would not.  Mr. Adair will meet the contractor on-site and lead them out of town. 107 
 108 
 Ms. Mabry thanked Ms. Morris and staff for taking the initiative to obtain stormwater certifications 109 
for inspection and plan review.  That will save the town a great deal of money to do those functions in-110 
house.   111 
 112 



Regular Town Council Meeting 
May 14, 2013 

Page 3 of 13 
 

 Mayor Samples said that was very important and that they were proud of her.  Ms. Morris said 113 
thank you very much.   114 
 115 
 ii.  Police. 116 
 117 
 Chief Keziah presented the written report, a copy of which is on file.  During April there was a 16-118 
percent increase in calls for service over March.  The number of arrests decreased about 14-percent 119 
compared to April 2012.  Much of the reduction is attributable to a couple of high profile cases that were 120 
worked in April last year that resulted in numerous arrests.  There were three high-risk activities during 121 
April, all of which were vehicle pursuits.  There were no injuries, and arrests were made in all three 122 
incidents.  Two were stolen vehicles that were recovered, one involved a fugitive from justice, and one 123 
involved drugs.  The US Marshalls Task Force cleared up ten warrants last month and collected over 124 
$1,000 in back bond money.  There is a lot of money pending through the court system that will come to 125 
the town.  On April 24th, Corporeal Bryan Clark represented the department in the Mock Lock Up 126 
Campaign for Muscular Dystrophy.  Through his participation, the department donated $800 to Muscular 127 
Dystrophy. 128 
 129 
 Mr. Stevens commended Chief Keziah for the efforts on the Citizens Police Academy.  There was 130 
a very good article in the newspaper.  He believed he was making positive moves in the right direction, 131 
and those are the kinds of things that are important.  The community needs a police chief it can feel good 132 
about.  Chief Keziah said thank you very much. 133 
 134 
 Mayor Samples asked for a summary of the US Marshalls Task Force.  Chief Keziah said 135 
Sergeant Travis Bailey was assigned to the task force on a part time basis.  He is a Special Deputy US 136 
Marshall, so he has nationwide jurisdiction.  If there is a warrant for someone in another county who 137 
needs to be picked up, Sergeant Bailey can call and within a couple of hours, the individual is under 138 
arrest.  That brings in a lot of stagnant bond money.  Usually the FTA (failure to appear) warrants listed in 139 
the report have already been through court and adjudicated.  When the individuals are picked up, they go 140 
straight to jail and remain there until the money is paid to the town.   141 
 142 
 Chief Keziah said the new recruit, Nichole Solorzano, graduated from the Academy this past 143 
Friday and would be working on the streets in time for bike weeks.   144 
 145 
 iii.  Fire. 146 
 147 
 Chief Cimini presented the written report, a copy of which is on file.  There were a total of 65 148 
incidents for the month, an increase of 16 calls over March; 38 fire prevention activities including 13 149 
inspections, 9 re-inspections, 8 preplans completed, and 5 reviews updated.  Between May 15 and 150 
September 15 there will not be any fire prevention inspection activities.  The department will concentrate 151 
on public fire prevention activities during that time.  This will prevent interrupting the businesses during 152 
the busy season.  Of course, new business license inspections and those type activities will continue.  153 
Career and volunteer crews completed 320.3 hours of training and 251.45 hours responding to calls.  154 
Four evenings were spent training in Myrtle Beach to meet the ISO night training requirements.  The 155 
crews did an outstanding job.  Career personnel receive 16-hours of training monthly through a network 156 
program called “Visual Learning.”  The department’s programs are now sanctioned by the South Carolina 157 
Fire Academy and Horry County Fire & Rescue on-line programs.  The department is prepared for the 158 
season.  A monthly fire prevention training program has started for senior citizens and will be held on the 159 
last Thursday monthly at the fire station.  The training captain was asked to develop a career 160 
development training program for both career employees and volunteers that would help develop a good 161 
succession program and allow employees/volunteers to advance within the department.  Volunteer ranks 162 
increased by seven members in April; six of the volunteers are already certified South Carolina 163 
firefighters.  Larry Carter was hired to fill the vacant engineer position.  Engineer Carter was a volunteer 164 
with the department and placed first in the applicant testing process.  Chief Cimini was very pleased to 165 
announce that a grant was awarded for a $7,000 thermal imaging camera.  The grant was submitted 166 
through the Firehouse Subs Foundation.  The camera will be delivered before too long, and Town Council 167 
and the citizens will be invited to a presentation ceremony by the Foundation.   168 



Regular Town Council Meeting 
May 14, 2013 

Page 4 of 13 
 

 169 
 Ms. Kohlmann asked about the total loss estimates on page 3, because it was unusual to see a 170 
zero amount written like “$0,000.00.”  Chief Cimini said there were zero losses; he thought typing the 171 
number in that format was more dramatic.  Ms. Kohlmann said she just wanted to be sure it wasn’t a 172 
typographical error and was looking for the words “no loss.”  She thanked Chief Cimini for his work.          173 
 174 
 C.  Administrator’s Report 175 
 176 
 i.  Update on Current Events.   177 
 178 
 Ms. Fellner reported that the punch list for the pier ADA (Americans with Disabilities Act) 179 
expansion is almost completed.  The Kiwi shades should be delivered next week.  Once those are 180 
installed, the contractor will top off the piles.  There was an equipment breakdown that delayed 181 
completion of the Ocean Boulevard paving.  She did not have complete information to report.  Boggs has 182 
yet to give a paving date for the expanded parking at the pier parking lot.  Once it is received, she would 183 
notify Town Council.  Staff had spent most of their time lately on budget scenarios.   184 
 185 
 Mr. Smith said when press releases are made Town Council was to be notified first, and asked 186 
any directives had been given to staff in that regard.  Ms. Fellner said yes, sir.  Mr. Smith said that means 187 
if the police department sends out a press release, it would also be sent to council.  Ms. Fellner said yes, 188 
sir.  It should actually be sent to Town Council first.  Mr. Smith thanked her. 189 
 190 
 ii.  Consensus Items – expenditure for roof patch. 191 
 192 
 Ms. Fellner said the town received an $18,000 bid that was not complete, and another $24,000 193 
estimate for replacing the roof on the restaurant at the pier.  There is the opinion that the roof can be 194 
patched, but the three vendors that looked at the roof do not feel it can be patched.  A vendor is going to 195 
give a price tomorrow on possibly patching it.  Late today she received an estimate to patch, which she 196 
believed was about $4,500; the issue is there is no warranty on the work.  This needs to be done as an 197 
emergency expenditure; letting bids would take too long.  Water is leaking through the roof in seven 198 
places inside the restaurant.  Three places are in the food preparation area.  One is right over the fryer, 199 
which is a bad situation.  Since this meeting was scheduled tonight, she wanted to advise council of the 200 
situation.   201 
 202 
 Mayor Samples was familiar with flat roofs and said that is the type roof on the building.  He spent 203 
some time with the public works director and staff on the roof.  He believed it is a PDEM rubberized roof.  204 
There are new materials available that could rolled on once the roof is cleaned that would stop the leaks.  205 
Discussions were held in the past about possibly making improvements to the building in the future, 206 
including parapets or other architectural features.  Before an emergency expenditure is made, he 207 
believed repairs should be explored first; in a few years, a major planned expense to upgrade the building 208 
should be taken.  The roof may have to be replaced, but it only leaks when it rains, and he believed 209 
another opinion should be obtained before a decision is made.  Ms. Fellner said that would be done; the 210 
Roof Doctor said they will patch the roof for the stated price, but will not warranty the work.  However, she 211 
needed council’s consensus to move forward if the vendor she meets tomorrow is willing to warranty the 212 
repairs, or to take whatever direction council deemed appropriate, if a warranty is not offered.   213 
 214 
 Mayor Samples said for information that the vendor told him that he gave a 5-year warranty on a 215 
building in Myrtle Beach using the same process.  He understood the issue, but it seemed to him that 216 
they needed to be good stewards; emergency procurements always cost more than following the bid 217 
process.  He asked councilmembers for comments. 218 
 219 
 Mr. Johnson said he also was familiar with flat roofs, unfortunately.  He asked if this would 220 
replace the material on the roof, or if seams would be patched.  Ms. Fellner understood that the entire 221 
roof would be sealed.  Mayor Samples said that was correct.  Mr. Johnson asked if sealer would be used.   222 
 223 



Regular Town Council Meeting 
May 14, 2013 

Page 5 of 13 
 

 Mayor Samples said yes, there is material called Mule Hide A-100; descriptions are on the 224 
Internet.  There are options other than tearing up the roof, which he believed would reveal more 225 
problems.  The question is, is this something council is prepared to deal with today, or should the leaks 226 
be patched and the overall condition of the building be addressed at a later time. 227 
 228 
 Mr. Smith thought the roof should be patched.  If the vendor is not willing to give a warranty, he 229 
should at least agree to come back during the summer months to re-patch any leaks.  The summer is the 230 
critical time for the business, and so if a warranty is not offered, the vendor should at least be willing to 231 
come back and repair any leaks occurring during the summer months. 232 
 233 
 Mayor Samples said everyone recognized that patching is a temporary solution.  But the fact of 234 
the matter is that council has spent from three o’clock this afternoon addressing not only next year’s 235 
budget; second reading of the budget amendment was deferred for the current fiscal year, because 236 
council wants to be certain the town is in sound financial condition.  He asked Ms. Fellner if the tenant 237 
had supplied the information due.  Ms. Fellner said not yet.   238 
 239 
 Mr. Johnson concurred to patch the roof at this point. 240 
 241 
 Mayor Samples asked if Town Council concurred to patch the roof at this time.  Council 242 
CONCURRED. 243 
   244 
 7.  BUSINESS.   245 
 246 
 A.  Second Reading Ordinance #13-0745 to amend Chapter 9 Motor Vehicles, 247 
Administrator Fellner. 248 
 249 
 Ms. Fellner presented the ordinance explaining that Section 9-16, paragraph 3 should state only 250 
the first sentence “3.  Limited issued special parking.  With the approval of town council by resolution, the 251 
town administrator may issue special parking decals and establish merchant validation parking 252 
programs.”  The remainder of Section 9-16, paragraph 3 should be deleted and read the sentences to 253 
delete:  “These special decals are limited to parking in the Yaupon Drive parking lot when space is 254 
available. These decals will be a different color than the full time resident and non-residential property 255 
owner parking decals.  An example:  special parking decals are issued to purchasers of annual fishing 256 
passes.  Merchant validation parking programs are limited to paid parking in the C-3 District.”  This 257 
change would allow various programs and parking strategies to be implemented with the approval of town 258 
council by resolution without having to amend the code.   259 
 260 
 Mr. Smith moved to adopt second reading of Ordinance #13-0745 to amend Chapter 9 Motor 261 
Vehicles and that paragraph 3 be amended to state the first sentence only and the remainder of 262 
paragraph three should be omitted.  Ms. Kohlmann seconded.   263 
 264 
 Ms. Dodge said paragraph 4, beach access parking, includes all golf carts, registered, 265 
unregistered, and commercial may park free of charge at beach accesses, etc.  She believed commercial 266 
should be omitted because paragraph (b) 2 states commercially owned golf carts shall be charged a fee 267 
of $5 and they shall park in paid parking only, so there is a conflict between the two paragraphs.  She 268 
believed commercial should be removed in paragraph 4, and just registered and unregistered golf carts 269 
may park free in beach accesses.   270 
 271 
 Mr. Smith like the way is was written, because the commercial golf cart registration has the words 272 
paid parking only, but the town would like to have the tourists who rent commercial golf carts to be able to 273 
park free in beach accesses so that should remain in paragraph 4 under Section (a).  In paragraph (b) 274 
under section 2 the words paid parking only means that operators of commercial golf carts must pay fees 275 
while parking at meters and in pay station areas.  Mr. Smith reiterated that he preferred the wording 276 
remain the same except for the changes in paragraph (3) mentioned by the administrator. 277 
 278 



Regular Town Council Meeting 
May 14, 2013 

Page 6 of 13 
 

 Mayor Samples, Mayor Pro Tempore Mabry, and Councilmembers Johnson, Kohlmann, Smith, 279 
and Stevens voted in favor.  Councilmember Dodge voted no, saying she believed commercial should be 280 
deleted in number 4.  MOTION CARRIED. 281 
 282 
     B.  Second Reading Ordinance #13-0746 to amend §8-36, Fireworks, ¶(f), Administrator 283 
Fellner. 284 
 285 
 Ms. Fellner said the intention of the change is to replace the words ordinance summons with the 286 
words traffic ticket, since the town no longer uses the ordinance summons form. 287 
 288 
 Mr. Smith moved to adopt second reading of Ordinance #13-0746 to amend Section 8-36, 289 
Fireworks.  Ms. Mabry seconded.  All voted in favor.  MOTION CARRIED. 290 
 291 
 C.  Second Reading Ordinance #13-0747, FY2012-2013 Budget Amendments, Administrator 292 
Fellner. 293 
 294 
 Mayor Samples reminded council that this item was deferred until the next Town Council meeting. 295 
 296 
 D.  First Reading of Ordinance #13-0748, Drug Paraphernalia, Administrator Fellner and 297 
Chief Keziah. 298 
 299 
 Chief Keziah said this ordinance would basically criminalize the existing state laws pertaining to 300 
drug paraphernalia that is currently a civil penalty that does not include arrest powers or bench warrant 301 
capability to recoup money from a failure to show in court.  It is an administrative decision to take the 302 
existing state law and criminalize it through a town ordinance to make it a criminal misdemeanor 303 
punishable by 30-days in jail and/or a fine up to $500, plus costs.  The proposed ordinance was reviewed 304 
by the attorney and was fashioned after the ordinance adopted by the City of Conway.   305 
 306 
 Ms. Dodge told Chief Keziah this was excellent work, and she moved to accept the decision 307 
paper as written.  Mayor Samples asked for clarification if she was moving to adopt the ordinance.  Ms. 308 
Dodge said yes.  Ms. Kohlmann seconded.   309 
 310 
 Ms. Kohlmann told Chief Keziah the ordinance was really well done, and she knew that it is 311 
another tool for the department to use. 312 
 313 
 Mr. Smith asked if the City of Conway was having any success using the ordinance.  Chief 314 
Keziah said they are having great success from it. 315 
 316 
 Ms. Mabry asked if the businesses were aware that this ordinance is being presented.  Chief 317 
Keziah said they would be notified as soon as first reading was adopted.   318 
 319 
 All members voted in favor.  MOTION CARRIED. 320 
 321 
 E.  Grand Strand Juniors, Director Alex Sing – permission to use beach for volleyball 322 
tournament.    323 
 324 
 Ms. Julie Sing presented the request on behalf of Director Sing and Grand Strand Juniors 325 
Volleyball.  The program began in 2007.  There are 18 teams registered this year.  Since they were 326 
established they have awarded over $1 million in college scholarships to girls ages 10 to 18.  There is a 327 
summer series and for the past three years in the Town of Surfside Beach a beach volleyball tournament 328 
was hosted.  The tournament was held just south of the pier in front of Scotty’s and it does not interfere 329 
with 2nd Avenue activities.  She requested permission from the town to host the tournament again this 330 
year on June 1st.  The beach series included young ladies and young men.  She anticipated setting up 331 
seven courts.   332 
 333 



Regular Town Council Meeting 
May 14, 2013 

Page 7 of 13 
 

 Mayor Samples asked if they had insurance.  Several people said the policy copies were included 334 
in the council packages.  Mayor Samples said thank you for the reminder. 335 
 336 
 Ms. Sing said during the past three years that the event was hosted the town has allowed them to 337 
use a tent.  With Mr. Bigham’s permission they sold chips and drinks to players.  She anticipated 338 
beginning about 7:00 a.m.  Court will be set up the Friday before, and the event will probably conclude 339 
around 4:00 p.m.   340 
 341 
 Ms. Dodge wanted to be sure that the area where they set up did not block access, because that 342 
was a very busy area for people going on the beach, and she was sure that was taken into consideration.  343 
Ms. Sing said yes, ma’am.  In the past all the participants access via public walkways and use the public 344 
parking spaces.  The set up is right in front of Scotty’s, so they use that beach access.  There are about 345 
35 teams coming, and it brings revenue to the area hotels.   346 
 347 
 Ms. Kohlmann had attended the event and said it was a great event. She said anything that 348 
involved children was always a good thing; keeping them busy.  She commended Ms. Sing and the 349 
organization on their work with the children.   350 
 351 
 Mr. Smith moved to grant permission to Grand Strand Juniors to use the beach for a volleyball 352 
tournament on June the 1st.  Mr. Stevens seconded.  All voted in favor.  MOTION CARRIED.  Ms. Sing 353 
thanked Town Council. 354 
 355 
 F.  Historical Board Report. 356 
 357 
 Mayor Samples asked if there were any comments about the historical board report.  He said it 358 
was an excellent report and the report was accepted as information. 359 
 360 
 Mr. Smith appreciated the report. 361 
 362 
 Ms. Mabry agreed. 363 
 364 
 G.  Ad Hoc Committees (May be deferred until after Executive Session.) 365 
 366 
 Mayor Samples said if there was no objection, the appointment and resignation would be handled 367 
without entering executive session.  There were no objections. 368 
 369 
 i.  Accommodations Tax Committee Appointment – Carolyn Harbin. 370 
 371 
 Mr. Smith moved to reappoint Ms. Harbin to the accommodations tax committee.  Mr. Johnson 372 
and Ms. Dodge seconded.   373 
 374 
 Mayor Samples asked if there were any other vacancies on the accommodations tax committee.  375 
Ms. Herrmann said no.  Mayor Samples asked if other terms were expiring.  Ms. Herrmann did not have 376 
that information, but would let him know.  Mayor Samples said that would be fine.  If there are committees 377 
with vacancies or terms expiring to be sure they are advertised.  Ms. Herrmann said of course. 378 
 379 
 All voted in favor.  MOTION CARRIED.   380 
 381 
 ii.  Recreation/Special Events – Glen Curtis resignation.      382 
  383 
 Ms. Kohlmann moved to accept the resignation of Mr. Glen Curtis, although she hated to see him 384 
leave the recreation/special events committee.  Ms. Dodge seconded.   385 
 386 
 Ms. Dodge gave Mr. Curtis a special thank you. 387 
 388 



Regular Town Council Meeting 
May 14, 2013 

Page 8 of 13 
 

 Mayor Samples said thank you to Mr. Curtis.  The town appreciated his service, even though he 389 
did not live in town (laughter).   390 
 391 
 All voted in favor.  MOTION CARRIED.   392 
  393 
 8.  DISCUSSION – Any matters of concern or information to be discussed by Town 394 
Council. 395 
  396 
 Ms. Dodge said she was tired.  This was a long afternoon working on the budget.   397 
 398 
 Mayor Samples said the meeting was moving forward pretty rapidly tonight.  He said maybe they 399 
should meet earlier all the time, and thanked Ms. Dodge for her comments. 400 
 401 
 9.  PUBLIC COMMENTS – General Items. (5-minutes) 402 
 403 
 “My name is Lonnie Richman.  I live in Surfside Beach Club.  I’ve been in Surfside Beach for a 404 
year, well, about a year and a month, and to me it’s very confusing that we have a Surfside Beach 405 
address but we don’t live in Surfside Beach.  I, I at this point, don’t understand, and if somebody on 406 
council can explain to me why we are like (**) and don’t live here, but we do.” 407 
 408 
 Mayor Samples:  “Ms. Mabry wants to answer that question, so, if no one objects.” 409 
 410 
 Ms. Kohlmann:  “No, go ahead.” 411 
 412 
 Ms. Mabry:  “Actually we have a Surfside Beach area, and then there is a Town of Surfside 413 
Beach.  Ah, way back when, we were, we had a separate postal address.  As the years evolved, we all 414 
became one.  Myrtle, ah, Deerfield, Caropines, of course you weren’t built at that time, had the option of 415 
either being Myrtle Beach or Surfside Beach.  This is, ah, Surfside Beach is considered a triangle.  It can 416 
actually go out to the, ah, highway out there, not 17, but the other one.  I cannot even think of what it is.  417 
The Town of Surfside Beach is only two miles wide and two miles long, and it’s a municipality unto itself.  418 
And it is hard to understand.  When you bought your property, you truly do live in Surfside, but you do not 419 
live in the Town of Surfside Beach, and that is we’re a separate municipality.  We’ve been here since 420 
1964.  The town has never grown in size.  But, all out here (motioning to west of Highway 17 Business) 421 
has grown, but we…” 422 
 423 
 Mr. Richman:  “Being a big city boy that concept doesn’t fit into my perspective, but again, I don’t 424 
make the rules here.  I was a former CFO for (**) school district, so I dealt a lot with city council and 425 
USDA and the state officials, so this is, you know, kind of confusing for me in my (**.)” 426 
 427 
 Ms. Mabry:  “You live in an area in Horry County that’s called Surfside.  We are in the Town of 428 
Surfside Beach.” 429 
 430 
 Mr. Richman:  “(**) my reason for bringing that up, it was brought up at the meeting was the 431 
confusion about parking for Surfside area residents who live across the street, and I would like 432 
clarification, cause I’ve made a numerous, numerous calls, because I did get a citation for parking our golf 433 
cart at 5th street south.  It was; I had it taken care of.  I called Lanier, the subcontractor parking person 434 
about our situation with the golf cart, and there seems to be some confusion, and you brought up here as 435 
to parking at beach access areas, and number one, where it says golf carts only, and can somebody 436 
explain to me, I tried to hear when you brought that area up, can under new, amend, amendment can golf 437 
carts, licensed golf carts by department of vehicles, can they park free in designated golf cart areas at the 438 
beach?” 439 
 440 
 Mayor Samples:  “I think that’s a legitimate question, and I’m gonna ask Councilman Smith to 441 
answer that.” 442 
 443 



Regular Town Council Meeting 
May 14, 2013 

Page 9 of 13 
 

 Mr. Smith:  “Golf carts can park at the beach accesses free, like in your case, but if you park at a 444 
meter, you have to pay.” 445 
 446 
 Mr. Richman:  “Okay, so we were at 5th street south, (**) designated golf cart park area and so, as 447 
I understand it, we can park our golf cart where it says golf carts only, even though cars have to park, pay 448 
to park there.  Is that correct?  Golf carts have an exception.” 449 
 450 
 Mr. Smith:  “If it has a meter, you have to pay.” 451 
 452 
 Mr. Richman:  “You mean if a meter is, ah, there are no meters where it has designated golf cart 453 
parking spaces.” 454 
 455 
 Mr. Smith:  “If there’s no meter there, and it’s a beach access, then you can park for free.” 456 
 457 
 Mr. Richman:  “Okay, there was, cause, cause the way I understood it, I spoke to some people in 458 
Surfside Beach city hall, and I spoke to the police also, indicated that was the case last year, and there 459 
was a parking committee within this side of 17 and it was indicated that this year that golf cart parking has 460 
to pay.  That was something that was, that became effective this year.” 461 
 462 
 Mr. Smith:  “I’ll repeat what I said.” 463 
 464 
 Mr. Richman:  “Okay.” 465 
 466 
 Mr. Smith:  “If you are at a beach access and there are no parking meters, you can park for free.” 467 
 468 
 Mayor Samples:  “As long as you’re not within ten feet of the…” 469 
 470 
 Mr. Smith:  “Well, you have to be in the beach access.” 471 
 472 
 Ms. Kohlmann:  “(**) in it.” 473 
 474 
 Mr. Smith:  “In the beach access, that means you have to be east of Ocean Boulevard past those 475 
little signs that says beach access.” 476 
 477 
 Mr. Richman:  “So, therefore, there could be cars parked there, but if you have a golf cart, you 478 
can park in the spot marked golf cart only.  There are cars that park there.  Let’s just say where River City 479 
is, for example, and there’s like four are five spaces says golf carts only.” 480 
 481 
 Mr. Smith:  “That is a parking lot and so you couldn’t park there, because that’s a parking lot.  You 482 
can only park in the beach accesses.” 483 
 484 
 Mr. Richman:  “My, now my question is can we get a list of those parking accesses at whatever 485 
streets where golf carts can park so we know we can park there legitimately.” 486 
 487 
 Mayor Samples:  “I think that’s probably a reasonable request.” 488 
 489 
 Mr. Richman:  “So we know what we’re doing.” 490 
 491 
 Mayor Samples:  “In, in fact, what we’ll do is we’ll get a list together, and, and we’ll turn it into a 492 
flyer, and you come in sometime in a week, should that be long enough?” 493 
 494 
 Ms. Fellner:  “That’s fine.” 495 
 496 
 Mayor Samples:  “In a week, you come to the front reception, you can pick it up, and that way the, 497 
the, when you get your next ticket, you have that in your pocket and you can show ‘em, and, and it all be 498 
straight.” 499 



Regular Town Council Meeting 
May 14, 2013 

Page 10 of 13 
 

 500 
 Mr. Richman:  “Now, my next question, the same area, because we did get a ticket and Lanier, 501 
we called them on the phone, we appealed it and we won, and then, can a golf cart or a car with a 502 
legitimate handicapped parking tag, can they park in any area, say beach access, and…” 503 
 504 
 Mayor Samples:  “If it has a handicapped sticker, it can park anywhere.” 505 
 506 
 Mr. Richman:  “So that applies to golf carts, too.” 507 
 508 
 Mayor Samples:  “Yes, that’s right.” 509 
 510 
 Mr. Richman:  “That was my question.  (**two speaking at once)”   511 
  512 
 Mayor Samples:  “If you’ve got a Purple Heart license on it, you can park anywhere, too.” 513 
 514 
 Mr. Richman:  “I just had to…” 515 
 516 
 Mayor Samples:  (**two speaking at once) 517 
 518 
 Mr. Richman:  “That’s my last question.  Thank you so much.” 519 
 520 
 “Tom Dodge, 15th Avenue North.  The way you know if you live in town is to know where you get 521 
a tax bill from.  If you get a tax bill from Surfside Beach, you live in Surfside Beach.  If you do not get a tax 522 
bill from Surfside Beach, but the county, you live in the county.  Simple.  Ah, I’d like to pump up Travis 523 
Bailey’s tires.  He, he’s a super person, and he’s a super policeman, and he does a very hard job.  So, 524 
three cheers for Travis.  (Applause)  On the lighter side, at the last council meeting, Councilman Stevens, 525 
to his credit, brought up a situation that town, town people asked him to handle a situation.  I think that’s 526 
what town council people are up there for.  When a citizen has a problem, you talk to a town council 527 
person to have it fixed or talked about.  Mr. Stevens brought that up last week, and I credit him for 528 
listening to his constituents.  The mayor chastised him.  The mayor pro tem belittled him, and I want to tell 529 
you, he did the right thing.  Thank you, Councilman Stevens for doing what you are supposed to do.” 530 
 531 
 “Ralph Magliette, 104 Harbor Lights Drive.  I’ve just a few things.  First off, I would, ah, like to 532 
thank the fire department and EMS.  I live on Harbor Lights Drive and on Sunday, May 5th, around 10 533 
a.m., my neighbor across the street was having problems, and I want to thank them for the very fast 534 
response, both the fire department and EMS that were able to transport, transport him quickly to hospital 535 
and all is well.  You have a wonderful staff, wonderful fire department, wonderful EMS.  It’s just a 536 
wonderful place to live, Surfside Beach, amen.  The second thing I’d like to talk about very briefly is the, 537 
ah, the South Strand Senior Center.  On Friday, May 24th from 10 to, from 11 a.m. to 1 p.m. that’s a 538 
Friday, the South Strand Senior Center is gonna have a barbeque and it’s welcoming anyone in Surfside 539 
Beach who’d like to attend to come over for a hot dog or a hamburger.  Unfortunately or fortunately, it 540 
depends on how you want to look at it, ah, money is tight for them, because a lot of the people are on 541 
fixed incomes, and we’re looking for donations of hot dogs, rolls, chips, hamburgers, salads, paper plates 542 
or cups so we provide the food for their barbeque.  So, if anyone would like to donate food for that event, 543 
again, it’s gonna be Friday, March [sic] 24th, 11 a.m. to 1 p.m.  It’s 1024 10th Avenue North in Surfside 544 
Beach.  You can just bring us donations to the Senior Center to Jackie Willis who is the manager, and I 545 
invite anyone who’d like to come by to meet the seniors and talk about the facilities and the programs that 546 
are there to please come by.  It’s a wonderful program.  Another thing that’s happening this, ah, Saturday 547 
is under the Palmetto Pride Grant, there’s gonna be a beach sweep event.  It’s gonna be this Saturday, 548 
March [sic] 18th.  We’re gonna meet at the Surfside pier from 9 a.m. to 11 a.m.  Gloves, bags, trash forms, 549 
pens are gonna be provided, and the information will be collated and submitted to fulfill the requirements 550 
of the Palmetto Pride Grant.  So, if anyone is interested in helping us, again, we’re going to meet this 551 
Saturday, May 18th at 9 a.m. at the Surfside pier, and all the (**) you need is going to be provided for you.  552 
The, ah, other thing I would like to say, and it’s a pleasure living in this town, is that for much work with 553 
our committee, the weekly events for Surfside Beach, the calendar has been completed.  I want to thank 554 
the administration and the council for helping us.  I have copies of the calendar.  It is also gonna be on 555 



Regular Town Council Meeting 
May 14, 2013 

Page 11 of 13 
 

the website.  I have copies for the public.  I’ve also emailed the council and the pastors and, ah, ah, 556 
Glenda Hemingway, who is the director of library, and I want to thank everybody for the support, 557 
especially Debbie Ellis and all the people who have worked so hard to have these activities and event 558 
calendar created.  What’s gonna happen with this calendar is the calendar will be updated on a quarterly 559 
basis so programs can be added or deleted, and ah, as we said at our last meeting we have the fire chief 560 
come to our meeting, and we’re gonna start a program in June on the last Thursday of the month on fire 561 
safety for our seniors, and so I want again thank everyone in town for the support for the seniors.  I want 562 
to thank everybody for the wonderful job they do, both council and the administrator, and anyone I deal 563 
with.  You’re a blessing, ah, for us and a blessing to be here, and I want to thank you very much, and God 564 
bless you.  Thank you.” 565 
 566 
 “Hello, Patricia Magliette, 104 Harbor Lights Drive, Surfside, and I have to tell you this town just 567 
gets better and better.  Wish I had been born here; however, I live here now and it’s wonderful.  It’s, it’s a 568 
blessing to be here.  I only have one question, and I’ll be quick.  As of last summer seeing children driving 569 
around in golf carts, I’m wondering what is the legal age for a child or somebody to be driving a golf cart, 570 
and is this consistent across the board for residents and, ah, renters who have a golf cart with the rental 571 
property, and I was just wondering how old someone has to be and do they need a drivers license, 572 
because, because I’m concerned for safety, and safety of children and everybody around these golf carts.  573 
Thank you.” 574 
 575 
 Mayor Samples:  “Thank you.  The legal age, I think, is 16, and they have to have a license, 576 
drivers license, so that’s the answer.” 577 
 578 
 Ms. Magliette:  “Thank you.” 579 
 580 
 “Good evening.  I’m Al Lauer from 124 Harbor Lights Drive, Surfside.  I just wanted to, ah, bring 581 
up that on May 6th the students at Horry Georgetown Technical College made their presentation, their 582 
final exam of Surfside project where they, ah, three different groups gave their visual presentations of 583 
representations of the branding logos and the signage that they thought would be appropriate for 584 
Surfside.  Mayor Samples and Councilwoman Kohlmann were there.  I appreciate them coming.  I think it 585 
was a really wonderful experience.  The students did a great job.  They prepared booklets.  I don’t know 586 
whether you’ve seen them, but they will be available to you.  Professor (**) Burnell is going to provide us 587 
with a digitized version of all those materials that you’ll be able to look over, and I think you’re gonna find 588 
there’s some things there that you’re gonna be able to use.  Thank you.” 589 
 590 
 10.  COUNCIL COMMENTS. 591 
 592 
 Mr. Johnson:  “Ah, I really don’t have any comments.  It, it’s been a long day.  Thank you all for 593 
coming out, and God bless you.” 594 
 595 
 Ms. Dodge:  “I want to tell everybody the mayor is a slave driver!  (Laughter)” 596 
 597 
 Mayor Samples:  “Thank you.” 598 
 599 
 Mr. Johnson:  “Amen.” 600 
 601 
 Ms. Dodge:  “He keeps us working hard for all of you.  I’d also like to thank Ralph Magliette and 602 
Patti, his wife.  I’ve never seen such dynamic people.  They jumped in to everything.  (Applause)  Also, 603 
Mr. Lauer, thank you for your information.” 604 
 605 
 Mr. Smith:  “We’ve been working hard on the budget, making a lot of cuts.  If you hear anything 606 
on the street, instead of talking to your neighbor about it, talk to one of the council people so that you get 607 
the direct story.  We don’t want rumors to go out that are not true.  So, if you hear anything, confront one 608 
of us about the budget, because we are making cuts.” 609 
 610 



Regular Town Council Meeting 
May 14, 2013 

Page 12 of 13 
 

 Ms. Mabry:  “Yeah, there’s a couple of things I’d like to address real quickly, and one is the 611 
budget.  I appreciate Mr. Rhoades coming up and discussing that.  I think that if you have any questions, 612 
it’s good to ask us and ask us in open; it’s fine.  We’re not in the best shape that we have been in the 613 
past, so we’re finding ourselves having to do some hard cuts, and there are certain ways the government 614 
makes you, or allows you to spend certain amounts of money.  So, we’re having to deal with that, too.  615 
Ah, another thing I would like to heartily apologize to Mr. Stevens.  I certainly never meant to belittle him 616 
at the last council meeting or in any council meeting, and if it appeared that I did, I am terribly sorry.  It 617 
was not my intent, and I do thank everyone for coming out, and get familiar with our budget and help us 618 
find ways to save money.  Thank you.” 619 
 620 
 Mr. Stevens:  “Thank you, ah, ladies and gentlemen, for coming out.  Ms. Mabry, I accept your 621 
apology.  I don’t know what you said, but I will accept it.  I do, am able to hear a little bit better now, 622 
because I got a hearing aid.  Went to the VA and they gave me some, so, I still can’t hear the dogs 623 
barking, though.  (Laughter)  On the other, on the other, on another matter, I just want to put some special 624 
recognition to Ralph Magliette.  He is the one who came to me to start the senior citizens committee, and 625 
I know I had a tough time getting that senior citizen committee passed.  There were some people that 626 
maybe didn’t want it, but I tell you what, he has really done something tremendous for this town for the 627 
senior citizens and I commend him.  Not only has he, he’s done everything from computer classes, he’s 628 
now got the fire chief teaching people fire education, how to be safe in your house.  I gotta commend this 629 
guy.  This guy is a solid citizen and he’s only been here for a short period of time.  Also, want to thank Mr. 630 
Dodge for his support.  I know I took a very volatile situation or subject that would make the hair bristle on 631 
your back like a dog’s, but I did it for the people who elected me, and ah, I just wanna say that it must a 632 
had some positive input, because since that meeting, I have had one complaint on barking.  So it must be 633 
that good neighbor thing; must have done some good.  And, Mr. Lauer, I’m sorry I missed the meeting.  I 634 
had, I came down with the flu after my vacation.  But, I definitely wanted to attend.  I commend you for 635 
getting Horry Georgetown Tech to do that type of work for us.  You’re, you’re another person who has 636 
moved this town, you and your wife have been very active, and I commend you for taking part.  And also 637 
want to commend one other group of folks.  They get chastised all the time, but the parking committee.  638 
They have tried to make this town safer.  They have introduced some laws.  One law just 10 feet from a 639 
driveway.  Used to be you parked right up to the driveway.  You know if a kid, a little kid, ran out in front of 640 
you, which happened to me last year in the summer time, little girl ran out between two SUVs and had I 641 
not, had I been going 30 miles an hour, the speed limit, I would’ve killed that girl.  I was only going 10.  I 642 
slammed on the brakes.  She got scared.  I got scared.  We both cried, but the little girl was alright.  The 643 
mom was okay, but it was definitely something.  I want to salute all the parking committee for trying to 644 
make some better laws in this town.  Thank you for coming out.  Come back again.” 645 
 646 
 Ms. Kohlmann:  “I’m a little annoyed at myself, because I received an email from a resident and 647 
he, ah, asked me to specifically read it to you in his absence, and I, with the budget, and running around 648 
like crazy, I forgot to bring his letter, and that’s not like me, but I did forget, and I’ll just tell you what it was 649 
about, and I will read it at the next meeting, cause I did give him my word that I would read it, but it was 650 
about the parking meters and safety on Ocean Boulevard, and his concern was people crossing and 651 
doors opening, but I will be reading it during my council comments at the next meeting, and I just didn’t 652 
want to forget to mention it, because I did tell him I would do it.  I also have to say Horry Georgetown 653 
Tech, Mr. Lauer, it was a wonderful, wonderful presentation.  I got so much out of that.  I know the mayor 654 
did, and that there are many things in there that we can work off of, and I appreciate you taking all that 655 
time and effort to do that.  Ralph, although I, I know you leave a lot of messages for us to call you back 656 
about picking up the litter at the beach and sometimes I don’t get back, I don’t get some of those 657 
messages.  My kids delete them.  Remember that.  You always have to call twice.  But, I want to 658 
commend you also on what you’re doing in the town, and other than that, I just want to thank everybody 659 
for coming out.” 660 
 661 
 Mayor Samples:  “I want to thank the council, the staff, and our volunteers for all the hard work 662 
that they do to keep Surfside Beach a great place to live, because there’s no question about it, it is a 663 
great place to live.  But we need to do, and I regret that some of you don’t live in town, but, you can, you 664 
can still move into town.  We’ve got, we’ve got places for sale, and it is a great place to live. (**Unknown 665 
speaker from audience.)  (Laughter.)  You know the banks are making loans, I hear, these days.  But I 666 



Regular Town Council Meeting 
May 14, 2013 

Page 13 of 13 
 

especially do want to recognize the hard work that the staff does for us, and we are inning, entering into 667 
the busy, busy time of the year, and we’ve got folks that, the fact of the matter is, they risk, some of them 668 
risk their lives for us out there, and we shouldn’t take that for granted.  We pay taxes to make sure we 669 
have quick responses; quick turnaround.  The county is not gonna do that for you.  I mean, it’s, it’s just a 670 
fact; it’s a fact of life.  We live in a great place.  We’ll see you next time.  Thank you.”                671 
 672 
 11.  EXECUTIVE SESSION 673 
 674 
 Pursuant to FOIA §30-4-70(a)(1) to discuss the appointment of a person to a public body, and 675 
pursuant to Town Code of Ordinances §2-61(f) to consider vacancy declared by recreation/special events 676 
committee. 677 
 678 
 Clerk’s Note:  Executive session was not entered into, because Town Council addressed the 679 
items during the business portion of the meeting.  680 
   681 
 12.  ADJOURNMENT.   682 
 683 
 Mr. Smith moved to adjourn the meeting at 7:48 p.m.  Ms. Dodge seconded.  All voted in favor.  684 
MOTION CARRIED. 685 
 686 
 687 
      Prepared and submitted by, 688 
 689 
      _____________________________________________  690 
      Debra E. Herrmann, CMC, Town Clerk 691 
 692 
Approved:  May 28, 2013 693 
 694 
 695 

____________________________________ 696 
Douglas F. Samples, Mayor 697 

         698 
_______________________________________ ______________________________________ 699 
Mary Beth Mabry, Mayor Pro Tempore    Ann Dodge, Town Council    700 
 701 
_______________________________________ ______________________________________ 702 
Mark L. Johnson, Town Council       Elizabeth A. Kohlmann, Town Council 703 
 704 
_______________________________________ ______________________________________ 705 
Roderick E. Smith, Town Council   Randle M. Stevens, Town Council 706 
 707 
 708 
Clerk’s Note:  This document constitutes minutes of the meeting that was audio taped.  These are 709 
detailed minutes documenting each member’s comments.  In accordance with FOIA, meeting notice and 710 
the agenda were distributed to local media and interested parties. The agenda was posted on the entry 711 
door at Town Council Chambers, and in the Town Hall reception area.  Meeting notice was also posted 712 
on the Town marquee.  Public Comments and Town Council Comments are transcribed as close to 713 
verbatim as possible.  When (**) is used a section of the transcription is inaudible.  Appointments to hear 714 
audio tapes may be scheduled with the town clerk.    715 



In recognition of 

Today we celebrate your dedication and 

commitment during your 10 years of service.  Thank 

you for all of your efforts on behalf of the Town of 

Surfside Beach and its citizens.  
____________________________________________________________ 

The Hon. Douglas F. Samples, Mayor 
 
__________________________________________________ 

Micki Fellner, Town Administrator 
 
__________________________________________________ 

Debra E. Herrmann, CMC, Town Clerk 

Joan Saleem 

May 30, 2003  — May 30, 2013 

 
 

Town of 
Surfside Beach 

COPY 



 
 
 
 

Proclamation #13-85 

Lupus Awareness Month – May 2013 
 
 WHEREAS, lupus is an autoimmune disease that can cause severe damage to the tissue and 
organs in the body, and in some case, death; and  
 
 WHEREAS, it is estimated that at least 1.5 million young women, men and children in America, 
and close to 40,000 people in South Carolina suffer from lupus, the majority of whom, approximately 
90-percent, are women of child bearing age; and  
 
 WHEREAS, more than 16,000 new cases of this disease are reported across the country each year; 
and  
 
 WHEREAS, the most common symptoms of lupus, which include extreme fatigue, headaches, 
painful or swollen joints, anemia, and hair loss, can mimic numerous other diseases, and a lack of 
awareness of the symptoms and health effects of lupus lead many people to suffer several years before 
obtaining a correct diagnosis and medical treatment.   
  
 NOW, THEREFORE, I, Douglas F. Samples, Mayor of the Town of Surfside Beach, do hereby 
proclaim May 2013 in the Town of Surfside Beach  
 

 
 
 
 BE IT SO PROCLAIMED this 28th day of May 2013. 
 
      

__s/______________________________________________________ 
The Hon. Douglas F. Samples, Mayor 

 
 

      Attest: 
 
           
   ___s/_____________________________________ 
   Debra E. Herrmann, CMC, Town Clerk   
     COPY 



















RECREATION DEPARTMENT 
MAY 2013 

MONTHLY REPORT 
 
SPECIAL EVENTS 
 
The Beach Music Party scheduled for Friday, May 3rd was rescheduled due to inclement weather for Thursday, 
May 9th.  Sea Cruz provided the entertainment.  Concessions of hamburgers, hot dogs, chips and drinks were 
sold with a total gross income of $383.00.  Town merchandise was sold with a total gross income of $200.00. 
Attendance was approximately 200 people.  Reviews were good on the event from the people attending. 
 
Memorial Day Cookout was held on Sunday, May 26th from 4 p.m. to 8 p.m. on Surfside Drive near Yaupon.  
Entertainment was provided by the Nacho Mamma Band.   
 
The Memorial Day Service was held Monday, May 27th at 2:30 p.m. at the Veterans Memorial located at the 
Passive Park. 
 
The Farmers’ Market had its grand opening today at 10 a.m.  
 
Recreation staff acquired and served the snacks, drinks, breakfast and lunch for the two day budget retreat held 
on April 25th and 26th.   
 
 
Youth Association Update:  Registration has ended for T-Ball, Coach Pitch and Machine Pitch (ages 4 through 
8) and has resulted in 16 teams with (4) teams in T-Ball; (8) teams in Coach Pitch and (4) teams in Machine Pitch.  
Twenty-four children were turned away.  Practice for these leagues began May 29th and regular season games 
begin June 3rd at Huckabee Complex.  All star teams for the previous leagues (ages 9 through 14) will conduct all 
star practice at Martin Field on Monday, Tuesday, Wednesday and Friday leaving Thursdays open for Movies 
After Dark. 
 
The Association is averaging a gross income of $1,200.00 a week from the concession stand.  The only problem 
with the concession stand is staffing.  The Association is also gathering and preparing their information for the 
town’s upcoming audit. 
 
   
 
 
UPCOMING EVENTS 
 
1.  MOVIES AFTER DARK – Thursdays – 9 p.m. – Martin Field – beginning June 6th through August 29th  A 
     schedule of dates and movies is on the town’s website. 
 
2.  SUNDAY SERENADES – Sundays – 2 p.m. to 5 p.m. – Passive Park – beginning May 26th through 
     September 1st. 
 
3.  FARMERS’ MARKET – Tuesdays – 10 a.m. to 3 p.m. – Park/parking lot corner of Surfside Drive and  
     Poplar Drive North – beginning May 28th through October 29th. 
 
 



  

PUBLIC WORKS MONTHLY REPORT 
April 18th – May 22nd, 2013 

 
 
SANITATION DIVISION (FTEs – 9) 
 
Residential Service – One cart was delivered once the certificate of occupancy had been issued.  Five 
carts were repaired and four carts were replaced.  Three carts were removed per residents’ requests.  
Sanitation supervisor responded to thirteen calls regarding ordinance enforcement; twenty-four calls 
regarding late put outs and/or questions about bulk/yard debris pick up, five calls involving billing issues, 
twelve miscellaneous calls and/or questions and three complaints.   
 
Commercial Service – Service routes continue to be updated based on business needs.  Ten accounts 
increased service days and seven accounts required extra pick-up services during Bike Week.  Supervisor 
explained commercial collection schedules to nine new businesses:  Archon Bay Capital LLC, 
Maintenance Plus LLC, Southeast Dance Center, Wild West Store, Hoffman Realty Marketing LLC, 
Island Surf & Paddle, Myrtle Beach Management LLC, A2Z Cleaning & Linen Services, & Kobe 
Express.  Nine accounts are participating in the Sunday commercial dumpster service; this option will be 
offered to businesses until Sunday, September 8th.  One business, Surfside Bowling Alley, was informed 
its dumpster needs to be replaced.  Crew responded to five miscellaneous calls.  
 
Recycling News – Four carts were delivered to town residents and two 95G carts to businesses upon 
request.   Six carts were removed per requests.  Supervisor responded to two miscellaneous calls with 
questions about recycling and two complaints.  
 
Summer Sanitation – To date, 487 exemption requests have been received and verified.  Three times a 
week rollout service began on May 12th with 546 customers participating in the service.  Summer service 
continues through Sunday, September 8th.         
 
E-Waste – One hundred and ten (110) residents participated in our Hazardous Household 
Waste/Unwanted Electronic Waste drop off event from Friday, April 26th through Sunday, April 28th.           
We disposed of 2.60 tons of paint as well as 0.42 tons of other chemicals/hazardous materials.  A report 
from Creative Recycling on the amount of e-waste collected will be forthcoming.   
 
In April we collected 406.86 tons of solid waste, 52.67 tons of mixed debris, 209.51 tons of yard debris, 
and 41.97 tons of recyclables.   
 
 
STREETS & DRAINAGE DIVISION (FTEs –8) 
 
The Beach – Crews are raking the beach and swash outlets are being dug out to ensure proper water flow 
three times a week, weather permitting.  Weekend servicing of trash and recycle cans began on May 4th.   
 
On-going/Special Projects: 
 

• Ocean Blvd. between 3rd North and 3rd South has been resurfaced as part of the Underground 
Conversion project.    

• 50/50 Ditch Piping program has been suspended for the spring/summer but applications are still 
being accepted for consideration when the program resumes in the fall.     

• Shower Towers are being installed at 6th Avenues North and South Beach accesses.  Crew 
continues maintenance and repairs on existing showers as needed.          

• Mosquito spraying is being done town wide Tuesday and Friday mornings, weather permitting. 
• Mowing and trash pick-up is being done on medians, town right-of-ways and parking lots.  Crews 

continue to perform maintenance and clean-up of drainage ditches and catch basins throughout 
town.   



  

 
 
 

• Street sweeping is being done on Mondays and Fridays, weather and time permitting.         
• Dirt – Crews completed three deliveries to town residents.  Dirt is still available free of charge to 

town residents who come to Scipio Lane and load up the dirt themselves between the hours of 
8:00am until 3:00pm on the third Saturday of each month.  Town residents requesting delivery 
must have the Public Works Director or Street Supervisor inspect the delivery site and issue an 
inspection ticket confirming proper usage of the dirt prior to placing an order at Town Hall.  This 
inspection will insure that the dirt is not being used to fill in ditches and/or swales that would 
interfere with our storm water drainage.  An appointment can be made to pick up dirt other days 
by calling Public Works at (843) 913-6360.    

• Five reports were sent to Santee Cooper identifying street lights that were not functioning 
properly.  

• Crew assisted with the Beach Music Party on May 9th.     
• From April 18th through May 22nd Public Works assistant answered 387 incoming calls.   

227 of those calls dealt with sanitation questions/concerns/complaints;  7 calls were from vendors 
providing product information and/or quotes;  41 calls dealt with street/drainage issues, 
streetlights, and questions about driveway inspections and dirt delivery;  9 calls dealt with 
parking meter questions/concerns;  22 calls dealt with parks/grounds issues; 34 were internal calls 
dealing with department and/or personnel issues and/or questions;   18 calls were received for the 
Public Works Director; 29 calls dealt with  miscellaneous questions, wrong departments and/or 
telemarketers. 

 
GROUNDS DIVISION (FTEs-4) 
 

• L&J Construction, LLC continues work on the construction of an ADA compliant restroom at 
Huckabee Complex.        

• Fountains are being installed in Magnolia Lake. 
• Planting, mulching, and maintenance have been completed at the Veterans’ Memorial Fountain 

on Surfside Drive in preparation for the Memorial Day service being held on Monday, May 27th. 
• Crews installed a flowerbed on Surfside Drive near Julie’s Café.       
• Repairs have been made to backstops and batting cages at Huckabee and Martin parks.  Field 

maintenance will continue throughout baseball season.    
• Crews have resumed spraying of town lakes as weather permits.   
• Crews continue to spruce up Town properties and parks, as well as weeding and trimming.   
• Crew assisted with the Beach Music Party held on May 9th.     

  
 
FLEET MAINTENANCE DIVISION (FTE-2) 
 
From April 18th through May 22nd our mechanics completed seventy-three (73) repairs on Town vehicles 
and equipment.  Four (4) vehicles had flats repaired and seven (7) vehicles had tires replaced.  Bi-weekly 
fleet tires checks and fire extinguisher inspections were completed on all Public Works vehicles and/or 
equipment.   “Preventive” and “Scheduled” maintenance (consisting of lube, oil & filter changes, brake 
inspections, tire rotations and fluid checks) were performed on fifty-two (52) Town vehicles and/or 
equipment.  
 
FACILITIES (FTE-2)   
   

• Crew completed renovations and installed power to the Gazebo at Fuller Park in preparation for 
the “Sunday Serenades” scheduled to begin on May 26th.  

• Lights were installed at the flag pole at Martin Park. 
• Repairs were made to several lights on the Pier and to boards on the 3rd Avenue North walkover. 

 



  

 
 
 
 

• Crew power washed the police station, completed repairs to several lights, and repainted the 
yellow safety lines in front of the fire station.   

• Estimates were obtained for roof repairs on the Surf Diner and for carpet installation at Town 
Hall. 

   
 
PIER – 
 
 
ADDITIONAL NOTES  
 
Welcome to Jarvis Linen, the newest member of our sanitation crew. 
 
Congratulations to Joan Saleem who will be celebrating ten years of service to the Town on May 30th.  
Joan will receive her service award at the May 28th Council meeting.   
 
Reminder:  “Summer Hours” of 6:00 am – 3:00 pm Monday through Friday are in effect for all Public 
Works crews.  We close for lunch from 11:00 am – 12:00 pm.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



  

 
PUBLIC WORKS – CURRENT EVENTS – MAY 2013 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 



  

 
 

 
 

 
 

As the summer season nears, Public Works readies the Town for the 
enjoyment and safety of all residents and visitors. So many details must come 

together….planning, execution, and evaluation are a must! 





Ordinance Number:  13-0747                         
First Reading:  04/17/2013       

  Second Reading:  05/28/2013 
 
STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF SURFSIDE BEACH 
      )   TO AMEND THE FISCAL YEAR 2012-2013 MUNICIPAL  
COUNTY OF HORRY  )         BUDGET FOR MID-YEAR APPROPRIATIONS 

)    
TOWN OF SURFSIDE BEACH  )          
 

 
WHEREAS, the Mayor and Town Council of the Town of Surfside Beach, in council duly 

assembled, desire to amend the Fiscal Year 2012-2013 Municipal Budget for expenditures, and other 
financing uses,  

 
NOW, THEREFORE, KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that the Fiscal Year 2011-2012 

Municipal Budget is hereby amended as follows:   
 
 GOVERNMENTAL FY 2012-2013    FY 2012-2013 

FUNDS   ADOPTED   AMENDED  
EXPENDITURES BUDGET  CHANGE BUDGET   
 
GENERAL    

 FUND      $6,010,200 $1,106,500 $7,116,700 
 
HOSPITALITY    

 TAX FUND      $  803,074 $   180,250 $   983,324 
 
ACCOMMODATIONS    

 TAX FUND      $  472,409 $    45,800 $   518,209 
 
 PIER FUND  $  135,193 $    15,000 $   150,193 
 
Repeal and Effective Date.  All ordinances or parts of ordinance inconsistent with this ordinance 

are hereby repealed.  This ordinance shall take effect immediately upon approval by the Town Council of 
the Town of Surfside Beach, South Carolina. 
   
 BE IT ORDERED AND ORDAINED by the Mayor and Council of the Town of Surfside Beach, 
South Carolina, in assembly and by the authority thereof, this 28th day of May 2013. 
 
 

____________________________________ 
Douglas F. Samples, Mayor 

         
_______________________________________ ______________________________________ 
Mary M. Mabry, Mayor Pro Tempore   Ann Dodge, Town Council 
 
_______________________________________ ______________________________________ 
Mark L Johnson, Town Council    Elizabeth A. Kohlmann, Town Council 
 
_______________________________________ ______________________________________ 
Roderick E. Smith, Town Council    Randle M. Stevens, Town Council   
 
 
       Attest: 
 
       ______________________________________ 
       Debra E. Herrmann, CMC, Town Clerk 



Ordinance No. 13-0748 
First Reading:  05/14/2013   

Second Reading: 05/28/2013 
 

Page 1 of 4 
 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF SURFSIDE BEACH 
    )  
COUNTY OF HORRY  )  TO CREATE SECTION 8, MISCELLANEOUS OFFENSES, 
    )    
TOWN OF SURFSIDE BEACH )  ARTICLE XI, DRUG PARAPHERNALIA 
 
 
 WHEREAS, the Mayor and Town Council of the Town of Surfside Beach, in council duly 
assembled desire to adopt an ordinance to criminalize the offense of Possession, Manufacture, Delivery, 
and Advertisement of Drug Paraphernalia in the Town of Surfside Beach. 
 
 WHEREAS, South Carolina Code of Laws 44-53-391 currently prohibits the possession, 
manufacture, delivery, and advertisement of drug paraphernalia with the penalty being a civil fine of not 
more than $500. 
 
 WHEREAS, the current state law is only civil in nature. There are no penalties for failure to 
appear in court or pay the required civil fine other than debt offset through the Municipal Association. 
  
 WHEREAS, the criminalization of this law will provide law enforcement with tools needed to 
successfully prosecute violators of the drug paraphernalia law.   
  
 NOW, THEREFORE the Code of Ordinances of the Town of Surfside Beach, South Carolina, is 
hereby amended by adding Section 8, Miscellaneous Offenses, Article XI, Drug Paraphernalia, which 
article shall state: 
  
Chapter 8. Miscellaneous Offenses. Article XI: Drug Paraphernalia. 
 
Sec. 8-97 - Definitions. 
 
 (a) The term drug paraphernalia means all equipment, products and materials of any kind which 
are used, intended for use, or designed for use, in planting, propagating, cultivating, growing, harvesting, 
manufacturing, compounding, converting, producing, processing, preparing, testing, analyzing, 
packaging, repackaging, storing, containing, concealing, injecting, ingesting, inhaling or otherwise 
introducing into the human body a controlled substance in violation of this article. It includes, but is not 
limited to:  
 
 (1) Kits used, intended for use, or designed for use in planting, propagating, cultivating, growing 
or harvesting of any species of plant which is a controlled substance or from which a controlled substance 
can be derived;  
 
 (2) Kits used, intended for use, or designed for use in manufacturing, compounding, converting, 
producing, processing or preparing controlled substances;  
 
 (3) Isomerization devices used, intended for use or designed for use in increasing the potency of 
any species of plant which is a controlled substance;  
 
 (4) Testing equipment used, intended for use, or designed for use in identifying or in analyzing 
the strength, effectiveness or purity of controlled substances;  
 
 (5) Scales or balances used, intended for use, or designed for use in weighing or measuring 
controlled substances;  
 
 (6) Dilutants and adulterants, such as quinine hydrochloride, mannitol, mannite, dextrose and 
lactose, used, intended for use, or designed for use in cutting controlled substances;  



Ordinance No. 13-0748 
First Reading:  05/14/2013   

Second Reading: 05/28/2013 
 

Page 2 of 4 
 

 (7) Separation gins and sifters used, intended for use, or designed for use in removing twigs and 
seeds from, or in otherwise cleaning or refining, marijuana;  
 
 (8) Blenders, bowls, containers, spoons and mixing devices used, intended for use or designed 
for use in compounding controlled substances;  
 
 (9) Capsules, balloons, envelopes and other containers used, intended for use, or designed for 
use in compounding controlled substances;  
 
 (10) Containers and other objects used, intended for use, or designed for use in storing or 
concealing controlled substances;  
 
 (11) Hypodermic syringes, needles and other objects used, intended for use, or designed for use 
in parenterally injecting controlled substances into the human body;  
 
 (12) Objects used, intended for use, or designed for use in ingesting, inhaling, or otherwise 
introducing marijuana, cocaine, hashish, or hashish oil into the human body, such as:  
 
 a. Metal, wooden, acrylic, glass, stone, plastic ceramic pipes with or without screens, permanent 
screens, hashish heads, or punctured metal bowls;  
 b. Water pipes; 
 c. Carburetion tubes and devices; 
 d. Smoking and carburetion masks; 
 e. Roach clips: meaning objects used to hold burning material, such as a marijuana cigarette that 
has become too small or too short to be held in the hand;  
 f. Miniature cocaine spoons, and cocaine vials; 
 g. Chamber pipes; 
 h. Carburetor pipes; 
 i. Electric pipes; 
 j. Air-driven pipes; 
 k. Chillums; 
 l. Bongs; and/or 
 m. Ice pipes or chillers. 
 
 (b) In determining whether an object is "drug paraphernalia," a court or other authority should 
consider, in addition to all other logically relevant factors, the following:  
 
 (1) Statements by an owner or by anyone in control of the object concerning its use; 
 
 (2) Prior convictions, if any, of an owner, or of anyone in control of the object, under any state or 
federal law relating to any controlled substance;  
 
 (3) The proximity of the object, in time and space, to a direct violation of this article; 
 
 (4) The proximity of the object to controlled substances; 
 
 (5) The existence of any residue of controlled substances on the object; 
 
 (6) Direct or circumstantial evidence of the intent of an owner, or of anyone in control of the 
object, to deliver it to persons whom he knows or should reasonably know, intend to use the object to 
facilitate a violation of this article; the innocence of an owner, or of anyone in control of the object, as to a 
direct violation of this article shall not prevent a finding that the object is intended for use, or designed for 
use as drug paraphernalia;  
 
 (7) Instructions, oral or written, provided with the object concerning its use; 



Ordinance No. 13-0748 
First Reading:  05/14/2013   

Second Reading: 05/28/2013 
 

Page 3 of 4 
 

 (8) Descriptive materials accompanying the object which explain or depict its use; 
 
 (9) National and local advertising concerning its use; 
 
 (10) The manner in which the object is displayed for sale; 
 
 (11) Whether the owner, or anyone in control of the object, is a legitimate supplier of like or 
related items to the community, such as a licensed distributor or dealer of tobacco products;  
 
 (12) Direct or circumstantial evidence of the ratio of sales of the object(s) to the total sales of the 
business enterprise;  
 
 (13) The existence and scope of legitimate uses for the object in the community; and 
 
 (14) Expert testimony concerning its use, 
 
Sec. 8-98 - Possession of drug paraphernalia. 
 
 It is unlawful for any person to use, or to possess with intent to use, drug paraphernalia to plant, 
propagate, cultivate, grow, harvest, manufacture, compound, convert, produce, process, prepare, test, 
analyze, pack, repack, store, contain, conceal, inject, ingest, inhale or otherwise introduce into the human 
body a controlled substance in violation of this article 
 
Sec. 8-99 - Manufacture or delivery of drug paraphernalia. 
  
 It is unlawful for any person to deliver, possess with intent to deliver, or manufacture with intent to 
deliver, drug paraphernalia, knowing, or under circumstances where one reasonably should know, that it 
will be used to plant, propagate, cultivate, grow, harvest, manufacture, compound, convert, produce, 
process, prepare, test, analyze, pack, repack, store, contain, conceal, inject, ingest, inhale, or otherwise 
introduce into the human body a controlled substance in violation of this article.  
 
Sec. 8-100 - Delivery of drug paraphernalia to a minor. 
 
 Any person 18 years of age or over who violates section 8-99 by delivering drug paraphernalia to 
a person less than 18 years of age who is at least three (3) years his junior is guilty of a special offense.  
 
Sec. 8-101 - Advertisement of drug paraphernalia. 
 
 It is unlawful for any person to place in any newspaper, magazine, handbill, or other publication 
any advertisement, knowing, or under circumstances where one reasonably should know, that the 
purpose of this advertisement, in whole or in part, is to promote the sale of objects designed or intended 
for use as drug paraphernalia.  
 
Sec. 8-102 - Civil forfeiture. 
 
 Any of the items of personal property listed in section 8-97 hereof and which is legally confiscated 
by the town will be forfeited. Any such property will be secured by the town police department for a period 
of 10 days and thereafter the town will destroy the property. 
 
Sec. 8-103 – Penalty 
 
 Any person violating any of the provisions of this Article shall be guilty of a misdemeanor, and 
upon conviction thereof, shall be punished as the law allows for a misdemeanor crime, with a fine not 
greater than $500 or 30 days imprisonment or both per incident.  
 



Ordinance No. 13-0748 
First Reading:  05/14/2013   

Second Reading: 05/28/2013 
 

Page 4 of 4 
 

 SEVERABILITY.  If any provision, clause, sentence, or paragraph of this ordinance or the 
application thereof to any person or circumstances shall be held invalid, that invalidity shall not affect the 
other provisions of this article, which can be given effect without the invalid provision or application, and 
to this end the provisions of this article are declared to be severable. 
 
 EFFECT OF SECTION HEADINGS.  The headings or titles of the several sections hereof shall 
be solely for convenience of reference and shall not affect the meaning, construction, interpretation or 
effect of this ordinance. 
 
 REPEAL AND EFFECTIVE DATE.  All ordinances or parts of ordinances inconsistent with this 
ordinance are hereby repealed.  This ordinance shall take effect immediately upon approval at second 
reading by the Town Council of the Town of Surfside Beach, South Carolina. 
 
 BE IT ORDERED AND ORDAINED by the Mayor and Town Council of the Town of Surfside 
Beach, South Carolina, in assembly and by the authority thereof, this 28th day of May 2013. 
 

____________________________________ 
Douglas F. Samples, Mayor 

         
_______________________________________ ______________________________________ 
Mary Beth Mabry, Mayor Pro Tempore    Ann Dodge, Town Council    
 
_______________________________________ ______________________________________ 
Mark L. Johnson, Town Council       Elizabeth A. Kohlmann, Town Council 
 
_______________________________________ ______________________________________ 
Roderick E. Smith, Town Council   Randle M. Stevens, Town Council  
     
 
 
       Attest: 
 
       ______________________________________ 
       Debra E. Herrmann, CMC, Town Clerk 



State of South Carolina 
County of Horry 
Town of Surfside Beach 

) 
) 
) 

Resolution #13-134 

Special Parking Regulations for Vendors, Service Providers, 
and Renters, Pursuant to Ordinance #13-0745, §9-16, ~(a), ~~3 

WHEREAS, the Town of Surfside Beach Town Council in chambers duly assembled 
in a regularly scheduled meeting on May 14, 2013 adopted Ordinance 13-0745, Chapter 
9, Motor Vehicles; and 

WHEREAS, Town Council is desirous of establishing parking regulations for 
vendors, service providers, and renters pursuant to Chapter 9, Section 9-16, paragraph 
(a), subparagraph 3; and 

WHEREAS, the Town Administrator met with representatives of said vendors, 
service providers, and renters, and makes the following recommendations. 

Now, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Town of Surfside Beach Town Council 
does hereby establish the following special paring regulations for vendors, service 
providers, and renters: 

Vendors and Service Providers: when the following circumstances are met 

• Business license in town 
• Business name on vehicle 
• Flashers on 
• Cone in rear and front of vehicle 
• No parking or blocking of sidewalk at any time 
• No standing for longer than 30 minutes 

Then, Vendors and Service Providers are 

• exempted from paying parking fees 
• shall be allowed to park on town rights-of-way 
• shall be allowed to park within ten (l0) feet of a driveway 
• shall comply with any additional rules set for by the Police Chief; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that renters staying in the corporate limits of the town 
shall be entitled to purchase a weekly parking pass at a price of $40 per vehicle, and 
special hangtags shall be verified and issued by Lanier Parking Solutions for this 
purpose; and 

BE IT FURIHER RESOLVED, that realty companies shall be entitled to purchase a 
weekly parking pass, at a price of $40 per vehicle, for renters staying in the corporate 
limits of the town and shall do so by way of inputting a merchant validation code into 
any pay station and receiving a receipt for placement on the dashboard; and 



BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that renters staying in the corporate limits of the town 
shall be entitled to purchase a daily parking pass at a price of $8 per vehicle, and 
special hangtags shall be verified and issued by Lanier Parking Solutions for this 
purpose; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that realty companies shall be entitled to purchase a 
daily parking pass, at a price of $8 per vehicle, for renters staying in the corporate 
limits of the town and shall do so by way of inputting a merchant validation code into 
any pay station and receiving a receipt for placement on the dashboard; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Town Council of SurfSide Beach hereby reserves 
the right to suspend these special parking regulations by duly adopted motion of Town 
Council in a regular Town Council Meeting upon recommendation of the Town 
Administrator and/or Police Chief should it be determined that said special parking 
regulations are found to create a safety issue or become a detriment to the Town. 

BE IT SO RESOLVED, this 28th day of May 2013. 

Douglas F. Samples, Mayor 

Mary M. Mabry, Mayor Pro Tempore 

Mark L. Johnson, Town Council 

Roderick E. Smith, Town Council 

Ann Dodge, Town Council 

Elizabeth A. Kohlmann, Town Council 

Randle M. Stevens, Town Council 

Attest: 

Debra E. Herrmann, CMC 
Town Clerk 























NOTE:  Surfside Beach recycles approximately 525 
tons annually, which equals a savings of between $7 
and $8 thousand per year. 
 
 
 
 
 






































































	05282013_tc_agenda_6cii_recreation_report.pdf
	SPECIAL EVENTS
	UPCOMING EVENTS

	05282013_tc_agenda_6ciii_public_works_report.pdf
	SANITATION DIVISION (FTEs – 9)
	Residential Service – One cart was delivered once the certificate of occupancy had been issued.  Five carts were repaired and four carts were replaced.  Three carts were removed per residents’ requests.  Sanitation supervisor responded to thirteen cal...


